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INTRODUCTION

This crime arose from the sad confluence of untreated addiction and profit-seeking

curiosity. In January 2016, Anthony Weiner, at the depths of an uncontrolled sickness, was

compulsively responding from his Manhattan apartment to all corners who contacted him over the

Internet. Hundreds of miles away, a curious high school student, looking to generate material for

a book the Government has disclosed she is now shopping to publishers, wanted to see if she could

induce the infamous behavior for which the disgraced former Congressman was by then best

known. She could. He at first rebuffed her repeated requests, but within a few weeks, with his

judgment clouded by disease, he committed the crime for which he has accepted responsibility,

exchanging sexually explicit messages with her as he did with the many adult strangers to whom

he responded online. The high school student documented their interactions from the outset,

selectively photographing her phone to preserve messages otherwise designed to vanish. In

September 2016, she sold her story to a British tabloid for $30,000. The instant federal

investigation was properly launched in response, and then, quite improperly, injected into the U.S.

presidential election, quite possibly affecting its outcome. After the election was over, the high

school student told Government investigators that this had been one of her goals from the outset.

* * *

It may never be possible, perhaps not even for Anthony, to fully understand what caused

him to transgress this final barrier, moving from exchanging what had been ruinous but perfectly

lawful sexually explicit messages with women over the internet to engaging in the criminal

communications in this offense. But there are several aspects of Anthony’s conduct that are

foundational to the imposition of a sentence that fits the unique circumstances of the crime here:

First, this crime is a product ofa sickness. One can debate labels, quibble over particulars,

but no one can dispute that Anthony’s operatic self-destruction, of which the instant case has been
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but the final act, was born of deep sickness. Before encountering the high school student here,

Anthony had already repeatedly been mined by scandals in which his “confidential” adult

counterparts reported their explicit encounters to the tabloids. And yet he compulsively responded

to this teenage stranger too, under his own name as always, with his self-destructive behavior this

time compounded by criminal exchanges for which he would almost certainly be caught. One

does not have to be a psychologist to know that these are not the actions of someone well, and

every mental health professional who has examined Anthony in the wake of this scandal has come

to the same conclusion.

Second, Anthony is no predator. The result of the Court’s independent psychosexual

evaluation, like every other, has been clear: Anthony has no abnormal sexual interest in teenagers.

His (numerous) other fantasy sexting’ partners were adults. He never sought out teenagers on the

internet, and didn’t seek out the victim either. He never sought physical contact with the victim,

a common feature in cases of this sort. And he didn’t engage in the other predatory behaviors that

are typically present in cases of this kind, such as misrepresenting himself to gain access to the

victim or threatening to expose the victim if she stopped engaging in explicit conduct. Anthony’s

case is worlds apart from other criminal sexting offenses. He responded to the victim’s request

for sexually explicit messages not because she was a teenager, but in spite of it. He responded as

a weak man, at the bottom of a self-destructive spiral, and with an addict’s self-serving delusion

that the communications were all just internet fantasy — willfully ignoring that there was a young

person at the other end of the connection, hundreds of miles away, who could be damaged by these

exchanges through the ether.

We use the term “sexting” to refer to online communications between two people in which
explicit texts or images are shared through the exchanges.

2
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Third, Anthony is finally getting better. Even after his Congressional career collapsed, his

Mayoral hopes had been dashed, and his relationships with family and friends disintegrated,

Anthony remained in deep denial of the problem the rest of the world knew he had. Ironically, his

“treatment” after the 2011 scandal that led to his resignation from Congress involved an emphasis

to Anthony that he was in control of his behaviors and could stop them if he wanted to, perhaps

the worst thing one can tell an addict. Nearly one year ago, when his sexting exchanges with the

teenager here were splashed across the headlines, Anthony finally got the help he had for so long

denied he needed. The stunning progress he has made is indisputable, testified to by the

professionals who have treated him, the Court-appointed psychologist who has examined him,

fellow addicts in recovery, and by friends and family who have seen — finally — an introspective

Anthony, highly attuned to his personal flaws and deeply committed to becoming a better person.

But even more than these observations, it is Anthony’s own deeply personal meditation to the

Court on sickness and recovery (Exhibit 1 to this submission) that speaks most powerfifily to his

progress.

* * *

We respectfully submit this memorandum on behalf Anthony Weiner to provide the Court

with a fuller account — beyond the tabloid headlines — both of Anthony’s crime and the broader

context of a remarkable life that has resulted in much good. Punishment must, of course, be

imposed, but the sentence here should reflect the truly unique circumstances of this offense, one

far less egregious than any sexting case that has been prosecuted in this district. The sentence

should also reflect the specifics of Anthony’s sickness, which Anthony has made enormous

progress in addressing and which requires continuing treatment that is simply not available in

federal prison. Finally, the sentence must provide the Court with tools — and Anthony with

-3
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incentives — to continue on his path toward wellness. The Court’s ability to sentence Anthony to

probation, and to incarcerate him for years should he violate the terms of his release, provides this

in abundance.

We therefore respectfully submit, based on the unique circumstances of Anthony’s case

and his extraordinary rehabilitation, as well as the other reasons herein, that a sentence of probation

that mandates continued treatment and community service would be sufficient, but not greater than

necessary, to accomplish the goals of sentencing.

RELEVANT FACTS

I. Anthony’s Personal Background

As Judge Jed Rakoff has observed, “if ever a man is to receive credit for the good he has

done, and his immediate misconduct assessed in the context of his overall life hitherto, it should

be in the moment of his sentencing, when his very future hangs in the balance.” United States v.

Adelson, 441 F. Supp. 2d 506, 5 13—14 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). It is therefore important to begin with

what has often been lost in the caricatures of Anthony Weiner in the popular media: Anthony is a

person of humble beginnings, who transcended a difficult childhood to build a remarkable career

in public service, and who — after his compulsive sexting destroyed his political career — devoted

himself to raising his son from his son’s earliest days, enabling his wife to serve in a demanding

role for Secretary Hillary Clinton.

A. Anthony’s Troubled Childhood

Anthony was born on September 4, 1964 in Brooklyn to Mort, a neighborhood lawyer, and

Fran, a public school teacher. (PSR ¶ 46.) Anthony had, in many respects, a secure, middle class

upbringing. But there was turmoil beneath the placid surface: Anthony’s developmental years

were marred by emotional dysfunction caused by the troubled behavior of his elder brother, Seth

4
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As Anthony’s mother, Fran, writes of the Weiners’

As kids, Anthony had an outsized role in my life . . . My parents were working
full time and dealing .

so it was left to Anthony to look after me.

Anthony was put in a position of needing to be the perfect kid that wasn’t a
problem for anyone. It seems that Anthony was largely left to fend for himself.
There seemed to be implicit message coming from my parents to Anthony: “We’re
busy with Seth. Do well in school. Never get in trouble. Overachieve. Take on
an auxiliary parent role with Jason. Grow up fast.” And he did.

(J. Weiner Letter, Ex. 4.)

The emotional detachment Anthony learned from these fonuative experiences followed

him into adolescence and adulthood, where he struggled to make meaningful attachments with

both friends and significant others. While Anthony entered into a series of relationships in college

(F. Weiner Letter, Ex. 3) And as Jason writes of his reLationship with Anthony:

5
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and as an adult, he was unable to make meaningful emotional connections to these women,

(See Must Report at 16—18.)

Things got worse after Anthony’s brother Seth died.

As Jason writes of this period:

[unto his adult life, on the surface [Anthony] seemed to relish this role as the
problem solver and caretaker and wear it well. . . . But all the while, there seemed
to be something missing emotionally. . . . He was busy fixing everyone else’s
problems but neither he nor anyone else was addressing his issues.

(J. Weiner Letter, Ex. 4.)

Instead of confronting the negative behaviors he had learned at home and building or

repairing his relationships with those close to him, Anthony sought adulation from strangers, which

he received in spades as an elected official, fueling his frenetic work on his constituents’ behalf.

It was this adulation from strangers, amplified by his increasing career successes, that allowed

Anthony to avoid grappling with his emotional deficits — at least until his career and personal life

crashed down spectacularly.

B. Anthony’s Remarkable Career in Public Service

Anthony’s first foray into public service began in college, where, as a political science

major and member of student government, he found his calling debating campus policy. Feeling

he had finally identified something he was good at, Anthony began working for then-U.S.

Congressman Charles Schumer in 1985. In 1991, Anthony launched his own long-shot bid for a

seat on the New York City Council representing the 48th District in central Brooklyn. During the

election, Anthony “earned his reputation as a dogged campaigner, knocking on seemingly every

6
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door” and “relentlessly shaking hands at subway stops.”2 Astoundingly, Anthony won. At the

time, he was the youngest person ever elected to the job.

While on the Council, Anthony tenaciously served his constituents and New Yorkers at

large, developing a graffiti clean-up program for at-risk youth; fighting for stricter fire safety

standards in public housing after dozens of fires erupted in buildings across the city; working to

increase the number of police officers and improve access to fresh food in his district; protecting

senior citizens from discriminatory insurance premiums and rent hikes; and pushing for an increase

in federal funding for public housing. (See Letter, Ex. 11.) Indeed, nearly six years

into his tenure, the New York Times noted that Anthony was “considered [to be] one of the

Council’s brightest members and a gifted speaker who [was] particularly knowledgeable on public

safety issues.”3

3ut Anthony’s efforts were mostly of the sort that would never be reported in the press.

Those who knew Anthony during his time on the City Council recall his firm commitment to

helping everyday New Yorkers get what they needed from City government.

a former City Council staffer of Anthony’s, recalls “the hundreds and thousands ofhis constituents

(and even non-constituents)” that Anthony helped:

Anthony did not ask if you were a voter, a contributor, a Democrat or Republican.
If you lived or worked in the district or simply contacted his office for help,
Anthony would do his best for you. He knew that if someone contacted him it was
because they were desperate, had reached an impasse with a governmental agency,
and thought only Anthony could help. Anthony’s office number was the de facto
311 before there was 3 11.

2 See Randal C. Archibold & Ian Urbina, A Scrappy congressman, Readyfor His Next Risk, NEW
YoRK TIMEs (Aug. 30, 2005), available at http://www.nytimes.com/20O5/08/30/nyregion/metro
campaigns/a-scrappy-congressman-ready-for-his-next-risk.html.

See Jonathan P. Hicks, Congress a Backdrop to Council Race, NEW YORK TIMES (July 14, 1997),
available at http://www.nytimes.com/ 1997/07/1 4/nyregion/congress-a-backdrop-to-council-race.
html.

7
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Letter, Ex. 11.) Judith Baron, a fellow public servant, remembers the “approachable”

and “caring” Councilmember who “really wanted to know how he could help” — both in his

district and out. (J. Baron Letter, Ex. 8.) former State Senator Tom Duane, a former colleague of

Anthony’s on the City Council, also recalls Councilmember Weiner as “dedicated to helping

people who lived and worked in his district as well as throughout New York City.” (T. Duane

Letter, Ex. 13.) And , a former staff member of Anthony’s when he was on the City

Council and in Congress, writes of Anthony’s desire to help others, including mentoring his staff:

On most nights, [as a City Council member,] Anthony would drive around his
district, visiting various community meetings. Knowing by then that I was
interested in a political career, Anthony invited me to tag along, so I could learn
what the job of a councilman entailed....

Over those early years, Anthony served as an impromptu instructor, providing me
with an invaluable education on public service. There was no incentive for him to
do so — he was not getting paid; there was no media attention to be gained. My
parents were not big donors.

He did it because he genuinely wanted to help.

Letter, Ex. 15.)

In 1998, after seven years on the City Council, Anthony announced his candidacy to

succeed Congressman Schumer, who had declared his own bid for the U.S. Senate. After another

“energetic scramble throughout the district,” Anthony prevailed in a close race, becoming the U.S.

Representative for New York’s 9th Congressional District, covering parts of Brooklyn and

Queens.4 In keeping with his record on the City Council, Anthony continued to serve as a fierce

advocate for New Yorkers: Anthony was an early champion of single-payer health care, before

4See, Jonathan P. Hicks, THE 1998 CAMPAIGN: CONGRESS; Weiner Is Victor Over Katz In Bid
to Replace Schurner, NEW YORK TIMES (Sept. 16, 1998), available at http://www.nytirnes.com/
1998/09/1 6/nyregion/the- 1 998-campaign-congress-weiner-is-victor-over-katz-in-bid-to-replace-
schumer.htm 1.

$
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the idea took root with many Americans. He pushed to expand the Community Oriented Policing

Services (“C.O.P.S.”) grant program for local police departments, when departments were

struggling to hire officers in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis. Anthony also fought all forms

of discrimination: He championed same-sex marriage, from a relatively conservative

Congressional district, long before it was common to do so, prompting former Congressional intern

and campaign staffer, F lavio Alves, to write of the credit he gives Anthony for his early role in the

expansion of LGBTQ rights. (F. Alves Letter, Ex. 6.) Anthony also cosponsored bills that

guaranteed equal benefits to the domestic partners of federal employees, required employers to

accommodate employees’ faiths, and increased resources to combat hate crimes and racial

profiling.

And Anthony was an advocate for issues of particular concern to New Yorkers: foremost

among them was Anthony’s vocal support for funding health care for September 11th first

responders and others impacted by the toxic conditions at Ground Zero. As John Feal, a September

11th first responder and advocate recalls of Anthony’s service:

Anthony fought for us publicly, never backing down, and making sure we were not
forgotten. But there is so much more he did behind the scenes to make sure that
the 9/11 Heroes got the medical care they needed. But more importantly your
Honor, Anthony showed so much kindness and care to me and others in the
community as we struggled with sickness and personal challenges. He cared about
helping us so deeply. You can’t fake that.

(I. Feal Letter, Ex. 14.) Anthony also achieved a “significant victory” when the Interior

Department announced that it would reopen the Statue of Liberty’s crown to visitors, eight years

afier it closed in the wake of September 1 1th — to Anthony, visiting the crown had always been

See Sewell Chan, Statue of Liberty’s Crown Will Reopen July 4, NEw YORK TIMEs (May 8,
2009), available at https ://cityroom.blogs.nytimes.com/2009/05/08/statue-of-libertys-crown-will-
reopen-j uly-4/.
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“an iconic New York kid experience.”6 Anthony also secured Superfund status for Newtown

Creek, ensuring that the industrial waterway separating Brooklyn and Queens would receive

federal remediation funds, and fought ceaselessly to provide New York City with much needed

federal funding for a range of projects. (See S. Klein Letter, Ex. 19.)

A common theme of Anthony’s service in Congress, as it was during his time on the City

Council, was that many of the moments that truly revealed the content of his character were not

the well-publicized legislative accomplishments, but his quieter efforts, behind the scenes, to help

constituents. for example, former constituent Alex Singer writes that, when he could not reach

his son in London after the 2005 bombings there, Anthony promptly worked with the U.S.

Embassy in London to connect Mr. Singer with his daughter-in-law, who reported that she and her

husband were safe. (A. Singer Letter, Ex. 25.) Similar examples abound. Anthony pushed for

mandatory in vitro fertilization coverage after talking with a fellow New Yorker about her

struggles. Letter, Ex. 23.) He helped his constituents in Belle Harbor grieve and

recover from two disasters — September 11th and the crash of American Airlines F light 587 a few

months later — that impacted the community “tremendously.” (B. Larkin Letter, Ex. 20.) And

community leader Pesach Lerner writes, “what made Anthony special was the care and concern

he showed to the individual. He felt their pain and their needs became his; and, he acted

accordingly.” (P. Lerner Letter, Ex. 21.)

Anthony’s staff also remember fondly the work he did on behalf of constituents, in and out

of the limelight. As former staffer, Christina Tsatsakos, writes:

Anthony worked harder for the “little guy” than anyone I had ever met. . . There
were people who got Social Security benefits being withheld to them because of
Anthony’s help. There are immigrants to this country that were able to stay, or

6 See Mark Jacobson, Antlioin’ and the Giw?t, NEW YoRK MAGAZINE (May 3, 2009), available at
http://nymag.com/nymag/features/56440/.
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bring their families because of Anthony’s intervention.... Anthony made sure that
we always helped.

(C. Tsatsakos Letter, Ex. 26.) And Lawrence, another former staffmember, similarly recalls being

able to “witness firsthand the compassion Anthony had for members of his district,” noting that

“[w]hile many other elected officials would turn people away, Anthony would help anyone with a

City, State or Federal problem.” (Lawrence Letter, Ex. 18.)

Anthony’s work also revealed a deeply empathetic side of his personality. Lawrence

recalls that when “constituents were upset that a home for developmentally delayed adults would

be opening in the neighborhood,” Anthony stood his ground, proclaiming that “perhaps our

children would benefit from knowing there are others in the world who are not as well off as we

are.” (Lawrence Letter, Ex. 1$). And former staffer writes of telling moments that

few were “privy to” from Anthony’s days in Congress:

Many people think of Anthony as a fighter — one who loves debate and thrives on
standing up for what he believes. And that perception is not without merit. But
there is a kindness that most people are not aware of

In the early 2000s, when Anthony’s congressional office was based in Sheepshead
Bay, a homeless man began hanging around the street outside our office. The optics
were not great. A few staff members suggested calling the local police precinct and
asking that he be moved. Anthony caught wind of the plot and quickly quashed it.
His life is already difficult, he said. Let’s not make it any harder.

Around the same time, we had an office caseworker in her SOs named
was good at her job but had fallen ill, and had not been to work for weeks.

We needed her salary to pay for a new staff member, but Anthony refused to let her
go. He was worried about complicating her condition. He would regularly call

to check in on her, on his rides back from Washington.

Letter, Ex. 15.)

In short, while Anthony may now be best known for suggestive photographs splashed

across the covers of tabloids, his committed public works over the past thirty years have improved

the lives of thousands of New Yorkers. Tragically, and as discussed below, some of the qualities

11
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that helped Anthony succeed in politics — including his frenetic pace and taste for constant, if

fleeting, connections — helped bring about his downfall.

IL Anthony’s Sickness, Offense Conduct, and Recovery

Anthony’s hunger for the adulation of strangers, while masking emotional deficits with

roots in his childhood, also fueled his meteoric political rise. By 2009, Anthony’s national

prominence had reached new heights, largely through his well-publicized efforts to obtain needed

health care for September 11th first responders. At the same time, smartphones and the

proliferation of social media platforms had begun to transform users’ connectivity and frequency

of access to online communications. Anthony — who prided himself on being accessible to his

constituents — moved quickly to capitalize on these new technologies, developing a strong

presence on F acebook and Twitter, and responding to and engaging with members of the public

who reached out to him. At a speed like never before, Anthony was now able to tap directly into

the self-validating enthusiasm of unknown admirers, attention that also propelled his increasing

national celebrity. But it was, of course, this very intersection of technological innovation, fleeting

connection, and emotional needs rooted in a troubled childhood that had within it the seeds of

Anthony’s spectacular self-destruction.

A. The Beginning of the Sexting Habit

It started innocently enough, as destructive habits ofien do. Anthony began to exchange

texts and other messages with constituents and admirers alike. Some of the admirers were female,

vaLidating him not just as a politician, but as a man. Some of the conversations became sexually

12
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explicit,7 affirming him still further. It seemed harmless to Anthony — it was fantasy, after all;

no one was cheating, and no one was getting hurt.

But people were getting hurt. Anthony’s wife discovered his secret, and he said he would

stop. He didn’t. Anthony was getting hurt too. What once had fueled him began to consume him,

and Anthony started spending hours at a time on his growing habit, sexting with more women, and

hiding his phone in shame. He was developing a parallel existence on the internet — one that

allowed him to avoid facing up to his inability to sustain emotional connection and intimacy in

real life,

He was also getting careless. On May 27, 2011, Anthony accidentally publicly posted a

suggestive photograph of himself in his underwear, leading to a multi-week tabloid frenzy, the

publication of numerous more “private” images Anthony had shared with online admirers, and

eventually, Anthony’s resignation from Congress on June 16, 2011.8 The rapid implosion of his

Congressional career did not end his conduct, however, and Anthony — now facing public

condemnation, not adoration — took solace from those strangers who continued to reach out to

him on social media. Of course, after his scandal, an increasing number of those who reached out

to Anthony did so with curiosity as to whether they too could sext with him. They could. And,

while Anthony endeavored to rebuild his public life, he continued to engage in explicit conduct

While the scale of Anthony’s behavior may be unique, the fact that he sexted — i.e., engaged in
sexually explicit chats and image sharing online — is not uncommon: a recent study by the Kinsey
Institute has found that fully 74% of Americans surveyed reported exchanging explicit electronic
messages with others. See MEDiuM, Technology and Modern Sexuality: Results from Clue and
Kinsey ‘s International Sex Survey (Aug. 9, 2017), available at https://medium.com/clued-inlsex
and-tech-survey-3 3d64ecc3eda.
8 See Raymond Hernandez, Weiner Resigns in Chaotic final Scene, NEW YORK TIMES (June 16,
2011), available at http://www.nytimes.com/20l 1/06/17/nyregionlanthony-d-weiner-teHs-
friends-he-will-resien.html.

13
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online, eventually igniting a scandal in 2013 that ended his promising run for Mayor of New York

City, as another stranger, Sydney Leathers (who later provided the victim here with guidance on

selling her story) went public with their online exchanges, staked him out on election day, and

used the resulting publicity to catapult herself into the adult film industry.9 Anthony’s personal

and professional life was, once again, in shambles — more so than ever before.

Despite these devastating consequences, Anthony continued to communicate with scores

of strangers online. Perhaps with his personal relationships in crisis and the attention he could get

as a politician now irretrievably gone, sexting with strangers was the only means he had left of

obtaining the connection he craved. Sadly, the obvious mental health issues driving Anthony’s

online conduct went untreated. Anthony believed that the fantasies he shared with strangers whom

he would never meet were not harmful, somehow rationalizing away that these exchanges had

twice-destroyed his political career and grievously harmed his marriage. Like many an addict,

Anthony also believed that his conduct was under control — he could stop at any time if he decided

to — an impression unfortunately reinforced by therapy that ignored the compulsive nature of his

sickness.1° (See PSR ¶j 63—64; Must Report at 13; A. Weiner Letter, Ex. 1.) His brother Jason

recalls that, at the time, Anthony “wouldn’t entertain for a moment that perhaps he had an

addiction. He couldn’t stand the idea he wasn’t fully in control of his actions and decisions, even

as evidence to the contrary continued to mount.” (J. Weiner Letter, Ex. 4.)

See Mara Gay, Sydney Leathers, former sextingpartner ofAnthon Weiner, attempts to crash his
election night party, NEW YORK DAILY NEWS (Sept. 11, 2013), available at
www.nydailynews.com/news/ electionlsydney-leathers-attempts-crash-anthony-weiner-election
party-article-I .1451641.

Indeed, the Court-appointed evaluator, Dr. Shoshanna Must, notes in her report that Anthony’s
original treatment was based on an evaluation “from professionals who do not appear to specialize
in sexual problems.” (Must Report at 13.)

14
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Thus, in the deepest throes ofhis addiction and in a period when he was engaged in sexually

explicit chats with dozens of adult women, Anthony made the fateful decision to respond to a

fifieenyear-old, referred to here as Jane Doe (“JD”), when she contacted him online, a decision

for which he has accepted responsibility and that he will always regret.

B. Anthony’s Pattern of Sexting Online with Adults

From 2009 through September 2016, Anthony exchanged texts and other messages online

with hundreds of women whose ages spanned decades. (PSR ¶ 63; Must Report at 17—19.) It

almost always happened the same way: Anthony did not go online looking to find partners; they

came to him. To achieve this, Anthony made himself accessible on Twitter, Facebook, and other

social media platforms so that complete strangers could readily send him messages. Typically,

strangers would then contact Anthony, and he would, almost without fail, respond. (Must Report

at 17.) These thousands ofconversations, on numerous social media platforms, were not all sexual,

and even those conversations that became sexual were ofien a mixture of the lascivious and the

banal. This isn’t surprising: Anthony sought not just sexual fulfillment from these

communications, but also connections (or at least their facsimile) of the sort he struggled to create

in the real world. (Id.) This objective manifested itself in one of the more notable features of

Anthony’s online communications: despite repeatedly being publicly shamed by his private

sexting partners, Anthony did virtually nothing to conceal his identity when exchanging explicit

messages online — because, if Anthony did not appear as himself, the validation he sought would

be hollow. (Id. at 17—18.)

C. Anthony’s Communications with the Teenager

By early 2016, Anthony had hit a low point — rock bottom was, of course, still to come.

The volume of messages he exchanged during this period is simpLy staggering. Over two months

in early 2016 — at the time of the offense conduct — Anthony exchanged more than 1,500
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messages with just one middle-aged woman. His communications at this time were also

indiscriminate. During the three-month period charged here, Anthony exchanged explicit

communications with at least nineteen adult women. And, his behavior was reckless and self-

destructive. Anthony was increasingly careless with whom he interacted, responding, for example,

to an adult Republican male posing as a female and looking for political fodder.11 This was the

Anthony Weiner that JD reached out to from hundreds of miles away, while Anthony was laid up

in his apartment by a record-setting blizzard in Manhattan.

JD first contacted Anthony on Twitter on the night of January 23rd (PSR ¶ 6), announcing

herself as a “huge fan.”12 In fact, and unbeknownst to Anthony, JD was looking for material for a

book — one she has now written and is shopping to publishers. (PSR ¶ 19.) As she later stated to

Government investigators, she also hoped somehow to influence the U.S. presidential election, in

addition to securing personal profit. (Id.) To encourage Anthony to play along, as she later

confessed to him, JD “pretended not to know EVERYTHING about” him because she “didn’t

want to appear suspicious.” (Id.) To generate material, JD needed Anthony to act out — behavior

she tried to elicit during their first exchange, suggesting to Anthony that “we should skype [a fonu

of video chat] sometime,” immediately after volunteering to “prove” that “I have a vagina.” The

next day, in a facebook conversation, JD told Anthony “I like older guys” but “its hard to get away

with these things,” suggesting that they move the conversation to the confidentiaL messaging

application “Kik” so he would not be “busted.” They began chatting on Kik after that, with JD

II See Mara Slegler, Anthony Weiner caught in new fUrry online chat, NEW YORK POST (Aug. 13,
2016), available at http://nypost.com/20 16/08/1 3/anthony-weiner-caught-in-new-flirty-online-
chat!.

2 The citations to messages exchanged between Anthony and JD, to the extent not attributed to
particular paragraphs of the PSR, come from material that the Government allowed the defense to
review on Atigust 25, 2017 and certain disclosures in this same period following a Brady request.
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selectivelytaking screenshotsof her phoneto documentthe exchangesbeforethey disappeared.

(PSR¶ 9.)13 On Kik, JD askedAnthonyto sendpicturesof his erectpenis(promptingAnthonyto

stop responding)and askedhim to Skypeno less than eleventimes beforehe did so more than

threeweekslater, on February17, 2017. (PSRJ12.)

To be clear: thatJD wastrying to induceAnthonyto behavebadlyso shecouldprofit from

it does not excuseAnthony, who never shouldhave responded.Nor doesAnthony treat these

circumstancesas a justification. In his letter to the Court, he apologizesdirectly to the “young

personwho I draggedinto my sordid mess,”proclaiming“I am profoundly sorry to her. I was

selfish. I haveno excusefor what I did to her.” (A. WeinerLetter, Ex. 1.) Indeed,in termsof

Anthony’s sickness,and in terms of his own moral culpability, JD’s motives are immaterial.

Anthony hadno businessengagingin even initial, flirtatious banterwith someonehe understood

from the first conversationwasin high school(PSR¶ 6), eventhoughhe did not at thattime know

her age.’4 And he committeda deep wrong by engagingseveralweeks later in the obscene

communicationswith JD to which he haspledguilty.

The PSR reflects that these obscenecommunicationsoccurredon approximatelyfour

occasionsbetweenFebruary1$, 2016 and March 10, 2016, a period of threeweeks. (SeePSR

13 The Governmentdisclosedthat, in addition to selectivelydocumentingher online exchanges
with Anthony, JD also deletedcertainmaterialfrom her phoneafter learningthat agentsfrom the
FederalBureauof Investigation(“FBI”) were en route to collect it, ostensiblyto protectpeople
from getting in trouble.
‘ Although Anthony fully acknowledgesthe wrongfulnessof his conduct, disclosuresby the
Governmentraisequestionsaboutwhat exactlyAnthonyknew aboutJD’s agewhen. JD hastold
the Governmentthat shetold Anthony shewas fifteen in one of the threeSkypesessionsshehad
with him, which occurredbetweenFebruary17, 2016 andFebruary23, 2016. (PSR¶ 12.) And a
Kik messagedoesreflectJD telling Anthonyshewasgettingher learner’spermit. Yet in thefinat
sexually explicit communicationbetweenJD and Anthony, on March 10, 2016, JD asked if
Anthonywould havesexwith her “if’ shewas 15 (to which he saidno) andthenwhetherhewould
havesex “if’ shewas 18, to which he respondedwith a graphiccomment(“I would bustthat tight
pussyso hard. .

. .“). (PSR¶ 10.)
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¶J 10—14.) TheGovernment’sevidenceis thatthereweretwo sexuallyexplicit Skypevideo chats,

one on February18, 2016 and one on February23, 2016, an explicit exchangeon $napchaton

March 9, 2016, and a final explicit text exchangeon March 10, 2016. (Seeid.; supranote 14.)

Anthony largelycut off communicationswith JD after that, and ignoredher requeststo reinitiate.

(PSR¶ 14.) At no time did Anthony seekto meetJD for a physicalencounter. (PSR¶ 17.)

In May 2016, JD took the first steptoward monetizingthe story of her interactionswith

Anthony. As describedin a New Yorker article coveringthe investigation,JD soughtassistance

from SydneyLeathers,whosedisclosureseffectively endedAnthony’s 2013 mayoral campaign.

JD askedMs. Leathersfor help in publicizing her exchangeswith Anthony and “talk[ed] about

potentiallymessingwith Hillary’s campaign.bMs. Leathersthen connectedJD with the Daily

Mail, which paid a “sizeable fee” to both Ms. Leathersand JD for the story — with JD alone

receiving$30,000,accordingto the Government. (Seeid.; PSR¶ 19.) On September21, 2016,

the Daily Malt published its extensivestory about Anthony’s exchangeswith JD, featuring a

lengthyprint interview with JD, a video interview, and the photographsof her phonescreenthat

JD had takento documenther encounterswith Anthony. (SeePSR¶ 5.) More recently, as JD

shopsthe book aboutAnthony that motivatedher encounterswith him, she appearedon Inside

Edition on September11, 2017, for what the Governmentdisclosedwasa $10,000fee andan all-

expenses-paidtrip. (SeePSR¶ 19.)

15 SeePeterElkind, JamesComey‘s ConspicuousIndependence,NEW YORKER (May 11, 2017),
available at http://www.newyorker.com/news/news-deskljames-comeys-conspicuous
independence(hereinafter“NEw YORKER”).
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D. Anthony’s Diagnosis,IntensiveTreatment,andOngoingRecovery

The Daily Mail exposéof Anthony’s online communicationswith JD jolted Anthony in a

way otherscandalshadnot, andled him for the first time to grapplewith the depthsof his sickness

andto find thestrengthto treat it. On theheelsof thearticle,Anthonyagreed,still betrayingsome

reluctance,to an evaluationby Dr. Barbara S. Levinson, a licensed therapist speciaLizing in

psychosexualdisorders.16(PSRJ 66.) Anthony’s subsequentdiagnosisandtreatmenthavebeen

transformative.Anthony met with Dr. Levinsonfor thirteenhoursover the courseof two days in

September2016. During thesesessions,Dr. Levinsonconducteda batteryof tests,on the basisof

which shediagnosedAnthony with “mixed personalitydisorder,likely stemmingfrom childhood

emotionaltrauma,”which manifesteditself “in addictivebehavior,suchas sex addiction.” (Id.)

Dr. Levinsonalso ruled out any abnormalsexualinterestin minorsas a contributingfactor to the

offense,and found Anthony to be at a low risk for reoffending. (PSR¶J66—67; Must Reportat

14.)

Basedon theseresults,Dr. LevinsonprescribedthatAnthonyseektreatmentat

an in-patientsex addictiontreatmentfacility , which offered an intensivetreatment

programbasedon othersuccessfultwelve-stepprograms. (PSR¶ 67; Must Reportat 14.) At

Anthonyparticipatedin a near-constantprogramof therapysessions,all without accessto

electronicdevicesandwith only the most limited communicationswith the outsideworld. While

at first resistant, Anthony became a devoted patient, contributing to group sessions,and

6 Dr. Levinson,who hasa Ph.D. in psychiatricnursing,hasover the courseof her over fifty-year
career,studied, taught, and practicedin areasconcerningpsychiatric issuesunderlying sexual
dysfunction. She is also a licensedtreatmentprovider for sex offendersand, like the Court
appointedevaluatorhere, frequentlyworks with probationersand otherreferralsfrom courts for
comprehensiveassessmentsand evaluationsregardingsuch matters. Her curriculum vitae is
attachedas Exhibit 45.
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demonstratingreflectiveself-awarenessin individual sessionswith his therapist. By theendof his

six-week stay, which he had voluntarily extendedby one week, Anthony had fuily accepted

responsibilityfor his destructiveconductanddevelopedinsightsinto the triggersfor his behavior.

(SeeMust Reportat 14.) Indeed,basedon herassessmentof Anthonyafterhis stayat

Dr. LevinsonconcludedthatAnthonywas“thoroughlymotivatedto change.” (PSR¶66—67.)

Anthony has been vigilant in continuing his therapy since returning to New York in

November2016. He has participatedin regular therapysessions,“dutiful[ly]” attendingboth

individual andgrouptherapysessionsonceperweek. (PSR¶ 68; Must Reportat II.) PaulKelly,

a licensedpsychotherapistwith over twenty-five years’ experiencetreatingsexualdisorders,and

Anthony’s therapistsinceJanuary2017, writes that, “Anthony has shownsteadyand consistent

progressin . . . even in the most trying of circumstances,”observingthat “he showssignificant

fortitude and persistence,and is fully engagedin therapy.” (P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 2—3.)

Anthony also participates“near-daily” in recoverymeetings

that are modelledon Alcoholics Anonymous,a proventreatmentprogramfor addressingmental

disordersmanifestingthemselvesin sexualmisconduct. (Must Reportat 7, 11—12, 25.) These

meetingsprovide structureto Anthony’s day, which he also populateswith “healthy” activities,

suchasmeditation,while consciouslyavoidingtriggers,like socialmediause,thatwould endanger

his recovery.

In addition to this treatmentprogram and at the requestof the ProbationDepartment,

Anthony voluntarily submittedto an evaluationby Dr. ShoshannaMust, a clinical psychologist

specializingin the evaluationandtreatmentof individualswith sexualbehavioralproblems. (PSR

¶ 69; seeMust Report.) Dr. Must’s evaluationwasbasedon six-hoursofmeetingsacrosstwo days

with Anthony; Anthony’s responsesto a battery of tests; Dr. Must’s review of information
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providedto her by the Government’7and recordsof Anthony’s prior treatment;and Dr. Must’s

conversationswith Mr. Kelly and Anthony’s sponsorin recovery,amongother sources. (Must

Reportat 2—3.) Dr. Must’s reportunsurprisinglycapturesAnthony at a stateof high emotion:

However,Dr. Must’s reportalsocapturesa manreadyand

willing to change: As Dr. Must notes,Anthony’s responsesappeared“honest[],” “thoughtful and

insightful,” with Anthony taking “full responsibility” for his communicationswith JD. (Id. at 5—

6.) And, to Dr. Must, Anthony“appearsto be takinghis treatmentvery seriously.” (Id. at 22.) In

sum,Dr. Must reachedconclusionssimilar to Dr. Levinson’sandMr. Kelly’s:

Mr. Weiner does not have the antisocial correlatesthat can often drive risk to
reoffendagainstminorsand is consideredoneof themostrobustrisk factorswhen
consideringre-offenseconcern. He takesresponsibilityfor his behavior, in sum
and part, does not have a criminal history or lifestyle instability, and while
emotionallyhinderedin his naturalability to relateto others,seemsto caredeeply
for somefamily memberswhile wantingto strengthenconnectionspresentlywith
new sexually sober friends. He appearsto take an honest inventory of his
personalityflaws, and is motivatedto correctthem...

While he clearly hassevereandpronouncedproblemswith sexualself-regulation,
he has made significant strides in acceptingresponsibility for his behaviorand
working on self-improvementandsexualhealth. His currenttreatmentregimenis

‘ As noted in the PSR and Dr. Must’s report, the Governmentinitially declinedto make the
communicationsin this caseavailableto Dr. Must on the groundsthat theyhadnot beenprovided
to defensecounsel. (PSR ¶ 64.) The Government instead provided summariesof these
conversationsto Dr. Must, via the Probation Department. Unfortunately, Dr. Must had an
incompleteand inaccurateunderstandingof the offenseconductin her initial evaluation,because
she had not evaluatedthe actual communicationsand apparentlymisinterpretedportions of the
summaries,resulting in several unfair findings to Anthony’s detriment. To its credit, the
Governmentagreedto provide a revised summary of the offense conduct to the Probation
Departmentand Dr. Must, and to allow Dr. Must to review the actual communicationsshehad
requestedat the outset. That hasresultedin a moreaccurateevaluation— onethat showsthe risk
of recidivismto be 30% lower on a key measure,amongotherrevisions. Unfortunately,Dr. Must
observesthat her final evaluationwas still “limited” by the fact that this materialwas provided
only after shehad interviewedAnthony. (Must Reportat 4.)
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onehe trusts,andhe benefitsfrom checkinghis thinking anddecision-makingwith
his supports,which undoubtedlymodulatesand mitigates the behavior. If Mr.
Werner‘s motivationanddedicationto his own progresscontinuesat thispace,he
is genuineandforthcomingin discussinghis behaviors,andhecontinuesto usethe
supportandhelp offeredto him, he hasthe strongpotentialof living a flfe that is
sexuallyhealthy, offense-freeandvalztefiiUItled.

(Id. at 27—28 (emphasisadded).)

Mental healthprofessionalsare not the only onesto have recognizedAnthony’s striking

commitmentto gettingbetter. Fifleen participantsin treatmentprogramswith Anthony(including

thosein group therapysessionswith Mr. Kelly, as well as thosewho know Anthony from

meetings or ) have written letters testifying to Anthony’s involvement in these

programs,with manynoting his deepcommitmentto full participation,both for his own success

in recoveryand for othersparticipatingin the programs. For example, who met Anthony

at , writes:

I have seen, firsthand, Anthony’s dogged and tireless work ethic for self
improvementand rehabilitation. I havewitnessedhim, after a seriousleg injury,
hobble from addiction meetingto addiction meeting,to therapyand rehab,both
mentalandphysical. He did this eachandeveryday. He was an inspirationto the
manyof us in the roomswho desiredthis level of commitment.

( Letter, Ex. 30.) who alsometAnthonyat , writes of Anthony’s commitment

both to his own recoveryandto assistingin the recoveryof others:

I haveseenhim embracehis recovery,grow spiritually and take responsibilityfor
his past. Acceptanceandhumility aretwo charactertraits I haveseendevelopmost
in Anthonyoverthepast10 monthsandI am proudofhim for thework hecontinues
to do to becomea betterperson,fatherandhusband.. . . I know that my program
is strongerbecauseof him.

IS Anthony’s fellow recovereesare referredto by their first namesin this submissionin light of
the extraordinaryprivacy concernsat issue,but (with oneexceptioninvolving a letter writer who
counselhas spokento but who insistedon full anonymity) their full namesare availableto the
Court in the unredactedversionof their letters.
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Letter, Ex. 41.) And,anothercontemporaryof Anthony’s from , also writes

thatAnthonywas deeplydedicatedto his recoverythere,andservedas “a tremendousassetto all

of us who haveencounteredhim within the recoverycommunity.” ( Letter, Ex. 27.)

Anthony’s friends and support network from recovery meetings in New York have

similarly cometo admireAnthony’s progressand to rely on him in their own recoveries.

writes: “I’ve seenrealchangein peoplewho commit to makingrecoverytheirnumberonepriority,

andin thosewho do the work. Anthony is oneof thosepeople.. . . I’ve alreadyseenincredible

changesin him.” ( Letter,Ex. 39.) , who alsometAnthony in recoverymeetings,echoes

thesesentiments,writing both that Anthony’s “commitmentto his own recoveryis apparent”and

explaininghow Anthony’s “presenceandcommitmentto theprogramhelpsothers.”( Letter,

Ex. 38.) writes that “it is clear to me that [Anthony] is focusedon helping others,”

observinghe is “generousandkind” with fellow participants. ( Letter, Ex. 37.)

who participatesin group therapysessionswith Anthony undertheir therapistMr. Kelly, writes

that, in Anthony, he has “seen an increasinglyevolving personwith a tremendousamountof

contrition [and] integrity.” ( Letter, Ex. 35.) And , now a closefriend of Anthony’s,

statedto Dr. Must thathe hasbeen“impressedwith [Anthony’s] dramaticturn around,”andspoke

of Anthony’s “consistencyin attendingmeetingsandtheenergyandtime which he commitsto his

recovery.” (Must Reportat 13; see Letter, Ex. 32.) also recalled“how Mr. Weiner

is caring abouthim andwill makesurethat he checksin with him and his life, despitethe stress

he is enduringin his.” (Must Reportat 13; see Letter, Ex. 29 (echoingsimilar sentiments);

Letter, Ex. 33 (same).) Indeed, , anotherfriend from the recoverymeetings,writes

thatAnthony was therefor him at a low point in Augustwhenhe wascontemplatingsuicide,and

creditsAnthony with savinghis life. Letter, Ex. 33.)
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Anthony’s transfonriationhaslikewise beenapparentto his long-time friendsand family,

who havebeenstunnedby his progressover the pastyear.

(PSR¶ 50.) Anthony’sbrother,Jason,alsowrites poignantlyof Anthony’s recovery:

[B]y the time he camehome in November,the way he spokeabouthis affliction
was frank honestandpainful. Gonewas the window dressingand excuses.

The languageanddeedsof recoveryarenow centralto him. He is taking genuine
ownershipof the harmhe hascausedto himselfandthepeoplearoundhim. While
it was a hell of a way to get to wherehe is now, I’m glad he got here.

(J. WeinerLetter, Ex. 4; seePSR¶ 60.) Long-timefriend, Lisa, alsowrites the Court that shehas

“known Anthony for over a decade... in good times and in bad” and that shecan now see“his

absolutecommitment to getting healthy.” (Lisa Letter, Lx. 16.) Similarly,

Anthony’s long-timestaffer,writes:

I can say with absolutecertaintythat he haschangedsignificantly over the past9
months. The Anthony I know today is a different person— one who accepts
responsibilityandtakesownershipfor his choices,pastand present..

He is more introspectiveand patientand self-awarethan I ever thoughthe could
become.Thereis a sensitivityto the way his actionsaffect othersthatwasn’t there
before. He is moreempathicthanmostpeopleI know.

Letter, Lx. 15.)

finally, Anthony himselfwrites about his recoveryto the Court in a letter that

demonstratesremarkableself-awarenessandclarity:

I’m different now. My recoveryisn’t over. I’m still gaining new insights, new
ideas,and I am blessedto havethe guidanceof Dr. Must, Paul Kelly andothersin
this process.But I am gettingbetterandthe whole me is living an honestlife. I’m
still therefc nt ever

___________

IIK1t.]iI

But now I don’t fear that day that he
asksme aboutwho [his] daddywas. I’ll tell him I wasa troubledguy who did a lot
of amazingthings for peopleI barelyknew. I’ll him I was a guy [who] did a very

24

Case 1:17-cr-00307-DLC   Document 24   Filed 09/13/17   Page 27 of 71



bad thing to a young personI nevermet. I’ll tell him I put his amazingmother
throughyearsof traumaandbrokeherheart.

But yourhonor,with yourgrace,I hopeI will be ableto tell him somemore. I hope
I will be thereto showhim with my actionsthat althoughI will carry the regret, I
will alsobe better. He will seea moreserenefather. Onethat speakswith wisdom
and opennessaboutthe challengeof facing mental illness. I hopeI can showhim
that servicecancomein manyforms.

(A. WeinerLetter,Ex. I.) After morethana half-decadeof self-imposedruin, Anthony’srecovery

over the last yearhasbeentruly remarkable.

III. The ImproperInjection of the Investigationinto the U.S. PresidentialElection

While Anthony’s offense against JD was personal and apolitical, the Government’s

investigationwas marredby improper law enforcementdisclosuresto the press,starting in the

investigation’searliestdays,which— givenAnthony’swife’s role with thepresidentialcampaign

of SecretaryClinton — hadgravepolitical consequences.’9

On September22, 2016,multiple outlets,citing “law enforcementsources,”reportedthat

Anthony was under federal investigationby the FBI and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the

SouthernDistrict of New York, for the conductdescribedin the Daily Mail story from the prior

day, andthat federalauthoritieshadissueda subpoenafor his celiphonerecords.2° This improper

disclosurecausedan immediateand predictablepolitical reaction,with a spokespersonfor the

‘ It is importantto notethatwe do not believethatanyof this is attributableto the U.S. Attorney’s
Office for the SouthernDistrict ofNew York, or the AssistantUnited StatesAttorneysor FBI case
agentsresponsiblefor this matter,who havehandledthis casewith the utmostprofessionalismand
who haveaffordedAnthonycourtesyand respectat everystage.
20 See, e.g., RichardEsposito,Anthony WeinerProbedby Fedsin New Yorkfor AllegedSextsto
Teen,NBC NEWS (Sept.22, 2016),availableat http://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/weiner
probed-feds-new-york-n652921;Shimon Prokupecz,et al., US attorney investigating Weiner
sextingallegations,CNN (Sept.22, 2016),http://www.cnn.com/2016/09/22/politics/first-on-cnn-
us-attorney-investigating-weiner-sexting-allegations/;ABC NEws, Federal investigatorsissue
sitbpoenafor A nthonv Weiner s celtphone,(Sept. 22, 2016), http://abc7ny.com/news/feds-issue
subpoena-for-anthony-weiners-cellphone/1522677/.
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campaignof then-candidateDonaldTrump calling the announcementof an investigationof “close

Clinton ally AnthonyWeiner. . . extremelydisturbing,”andaddingthat “Americahashadenough

of the sleazethat is Clinton, Inc.”21 And, On October18, 2016, a “law-enforcementsource”told

theNew York Postthat a grandjury would soonhearevidenceagainstAnthony.22

Theseearlystatementsfrom law enforcementto themediapaled,of course,in light ofwhat

camenext. On October28, 2016— tendaysbeforethepresidentialelection— then—FBIDirector

JamesComeyannouncedthat, in the courseof an“unrelatedcase,”theFBI haddiscoveredemails

relevant to its investigation into SecretaryClinton’s private server.23 Within moments,“law

enforcementsources” alerted the media that the “unrelated case” was the investigation into

Anthony, adding that the emails in questionhad beenfound on a laptop seizedin this case.24

Predictably,theTrumpcampaignseizedon this news,mockingly“thanking” Anthonyandhis wife

for their help.25 Mr. Comey’sdisclosure,which cameover the objectionof theAttorneyGeneral,

21 See, e.g., SeanSullivan, Trump campaigncalls on Clinton to return donationsfrom Anthony
Weiner,WASHINGTON POST(Sept.22, 2016),availableathttps://www.washingtonpost.com/news/
post-politics/wp/20I 6/09/22/tnimp-campaign-calls-on-clinton-to-return-donations-from-anthony-
weiner/?utmterm=.d59d863I 8db5.
22 See, e.g., JamieSchram& Bruce Golding, Anthony Weiner couldsoon be indictedin sexting
scandal,NEw YORK POST (Oct. 18, 2016), availableat http://nypost.com/2016/10/18/anthony-
weiner-could-soon-be-indicted-in-sexting-scandal/.
23 SeeLetter from JamesComey,Director, federalBureauof Investigations,to Congress(Oct.
28, 2016), available at https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2016/10/28/us/politics/fbi-
letter.html?r=0.
24 See,e.g.,NEw YORKER, supranote 15; Adam Goldman& Alan Rappeport,Emails in Anthony
Weiner Inquiry Jolt Hillary Clinton’s Campaign,NEW YORK TIMES, at Al (Oct. 29, 2016),
available at https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/29/us/politics/thi-hillary-clinton-email.htrnl?
mcubz=0.
25 SeeJeremyDiamond,Donald Trump: Thankyou, Huma. Goodjob, Huma’, CNN (Nov. 3,
2016), http://www.cnn.com/2016/10/31/politics/donald-trump-huma-abedin-hillary-clinton
emails/index.html.
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was unquestionablyimproper,as the Departmentof Justiceitself found in a May 9, 2017 memo

issuedby DeputyAttorneyGeneralRodJ. Rosenstein.26

Therestis history. Following SecretaryClinton’s lossonNovember8, 2017,someelection

analystsconcludedthat Mr. Comey’slettercostSecretaryClinton the election,27andpunditswere

quick to shift blamefrom the FBI Director’s improperdisclosureto Anthony28— as well as his

wife29 — causingimmensepainto their family. Compoundingthis damage,whenDirectorComey

wascalledto Congressto facecriticism for his pre-electiondisclosures,hejustified his actionsin

part by claiming that the evidenceseizedin the instant caseshowedthat Anthony’s wife had

“forwardedhundredsandthousandsof emails,someof which containclassifiedinformation” to

Anthony.3° This waswildly wrong— Ms. Abedinhadforwardedonly a “small number”of emails

to Anthony, only two of which containedinformationthat was later deemedclassified,andall of

which hadbeenpreviouslyseenby the FBI.3’ While the FBI quietly correctedthis testimonydays

26 SeeTHE HILL, FULL LETTER: Trumpfires FBI Director C’omey over Clinton emaits(May 9,
2017), hup://thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/the-administrationl332630-full-letter-deputy-
attorney-general-recommends-trump.
27 See, e.g., NEW YORKER, stipranote 15 (“Many analystsconcludedthat Comey’sactionstilted
the Presidencyto Trump.”).
28 See, e.g., Z. Byron Wolf, Hitlary Clinton blamesJamesComeyfor her loss, Why not blame
Anthony Weiner,CNN (May 19, 2017),http://www.cnn.com/2017/05/19/politics/anthony-weiner-
j ames-comey-donald-trump-hillary-clinton/index.html;Carl M. Cannon, How Donald Trump
Won, REALCLEARP0LITIcs (Nov. 10, 2016), https://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2016/11/
10/how_donald_trump_won_I32321.html.
29 See,e.g., FOxNEWs,Clinton adviserspointfingersatHumaAbedin, inner circlefor loss (Dec.
19, 2016), http www .com/politics/2016/12/19/clinton-advisers-point-fingers-at-huma-
abedin-inner-circle-for-loss.html.
30 See, e.g., PeterElkind, JamesComey‘s Testimonyon HumaAbedin ForwardingEmaits Was
Inaccurate,PROPUBLICA (May 8, 2017), hftps://www.propublica.org/article/comeys-testimony
on-huma-abedin-forwarding-emails-was-inaccurate.
31 See,e.g., id.
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later,32 the damagehad alreadybeendone, promptingcalls to investigateAnthony and his wife

that continueto this day.33

Thegreatirony, of course,is thatJD told theGovernmentthatoneofhergoalsin capturing

Anthony’s bad behaviorhad beento influence the outcomeof the presidentialelection. (PSR

¶ 19.) The Daily Mail article alone was not enoughto do that. But the immediate,improper

disclosurethat Anthonywasunderfederalinvestigationandthe subseqtientimproperinjection of

this caseinto thepresidentialelectionmaywell havehelpedJD realizethat apparentambition.

IV. The PleaAgreementandGuilty Plea

On May 19, 2017,Anthonywaived indictmentandpled guilty to a one-countinformation

charginga violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1470,which prohibits“knowingly transfer{ing] obscenematter

to anotherindividual who hasnot attainedthe ageof 16 years,knowing that suchotherindividual

has not attainedthe age of 16 years,or attempt[ing] to do so.” (PSR¶J 2—3.) This statute—

virtually neverchargedin this district, exceptas an addition to more seriouschild pornography

charges— representsthe leastseveredispositionavailablefor an individual who hasexchanged

sexuallyexplicit messageswith a teenager,shortof declination.

Theagreementto which Anthonyenteredhis pleaof guilty (the “PleaAgreement,”Ex. 42)

further reveals the Government’sview that the conduct here is far less severethan what is

ordinarily chargedin moreseriousobscenityandchild pornographycases.The Governmenttook

theextraordinarystepof stipulatingin the PleaAgreementitselfthat,basedon themannerin which
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See,e.g.,Mark Moore,Humawon ‘t bechargedforHillaiy ‘s emaitsonAnthony Weiner‘s laptop,
NEW YoRK POST (May 3, 2017), available at http://nypost.com/2017/05/03/huma-wont-be-
charged-for-hillarys-emails-on-anthony-weiners-laptop/;CoNGREssMAN STEVE KING, Press
Release:King Calls For Wider Investigationsof Obama,Clinton, Coiney, Soros,Lynch, Abedin,
and Weiner Scandals (Jul. 27, 2017), https://steveking.house.gov/media-center/press
releases/king-calls-for-wider-investigations-of-obama-clinton-comey-soros-lynch.
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the SentencingGuidelinesarecalculated(as addressedbelow) andthe “specific circumstancesof

the offenseconductin this case,”a below-Guidelinesentencewould be “fair and appropriate.”

(Id. at 4.) In particular,the Governmentrepresentedin the PleaAgreementthat a sentencein the

rangeof 21 to 27 monthswould be “fair and appropriate,”while also permitting the defenseto

seeka sentencewith nojail time andto appealany sentenceover27-months’imprisonment.(Id.)

The PleaAgreementlikewise providedthat the Governmentwould not bring other chargesthat

couldreachthe sameconduct,which couldhaveincludedchild pornography“production” charges

with a fifteen-yearmandatoryminimum sentence.The PleaAgreementwas basedon Anthony

pleadingguilty at first appearancewithout discovery.34

In his pleaallocution,takenby JudgeLorettaPreska,Anthonyacceptedfull andcomplete

responsibilityfor his conduct,stating:

Beginningwith my service in Congress,and continuing into the first half of last
year, I’ve compulsivelysoughtattentionfrom womenwho contactedme on social
media, and I engaged with many of them in both sexual and non-sexual
conversation.Thesedestructiveimpulsesbroughtgreatdevastationto my family
and friends, and destroyedmy life’s dreamin public service. Yet, I remainedin
denialevenastheworld aroundme fell apart. In lateJanuary2016,I wascontacted
by andbeganexchangingonline messageswith a strangerwho saidthat shewas a
high school student, and who I understoodto be 15 years old. Through
approximatelyMarch of 2016, I engagedin obscenecommunicationswith this
teenager,including sharing explicit images and encouragingher to engagein
sexuallyexplicit conduct,just as I haddoneandcontinuedto do with adultwomen.
I knewthis was as morally wrong as it wasunlawful. This fall I cameto grips for
the first time with the depthsof my sickness. I — I had hit bottom. Through
treatmentI found the courageto take a moral inventoryof my defects. I begana

This lack of discoverydid not relieve the Governmentof its obligation under UnitedStatesv.
Brady to discloseto the defensefavorable information “material either to guilt or punishrnent”
373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963) (emphasisadded). The defenserequestedBrady materialin a letter to the
Government(Ex. 46), that led to severaldisclosures,including with respectto the financial and
political benefitsthe victim hadadmittedmotivatingher interactionswith Anthony, benefitspaid
to date, that the victim had concededshewould at times say things to Anthony in the chats“to
keep the exchangegoing,” and that the victim had deletedevidenceas law enforcementwas
comingto her houseto collect it, amongotheritems.
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programof recoveryand mentalhealthtreatmentthat I continueto follow every
day. I acceptfull responsibilityfor my conduct. I havea sickness,but I do not
haveanexcuse. I apologizeto everyoneI havehurt. I apologizeto theteenagegirl
whom I mistreatedso badly, and I am committedto making amendsto all thoseI
haveharmed.

(PleaTr., datedMay 19, 2017, at 12:22—13:25;seePSR¶ 27.) As reportedby various media

outlets,Anthony “cr[ied] openly” during his allocution.35

ARGUMENT

Anthony’s concededlywrongful conductis on ordersof magnitudelessegregiousthanany

caseinvolving sexuallyexplicit communicationswith a teenagerthat haseverbeenprosecutedin

this district, and is so far beyondthe heartlandof a typical sextingcasethat it barelybelongsin

that categoryat all. The prototypical offense is almost formulaic — an adult male, sexually

obsessedwith minors (andwith sexualcontactofien the ultimategoal), seeksout victims across

the internet,obtainingthe initial imagesthroughdeceit(i.e., pretendingto be a fellow minor, or

hackinginto their social mediaaccounts),andthen threatensto exposethe victims if they refuse

to continueproviding explicit material. The sadcircumstancesherearestti generis— a curious

teenagerapproachesan infamousaddict,and(asconcededby theGovernment)in pursuitof money

and a handin national politics, encouragesthe addict to do preciselythe destrnctivething he is

addictedto, while meticulously documentinghis shamefulbehavior for public release. Yes,

Anthony committeda crime — he hasa sickness,but not an excuse,as he statedduring his plea

— andwith the Governmenthaving chosento prosecuteit, he comesbeforethe Court to accept

his punishment. But the punishmentshouldbe fashionedto the uniquenatureof the crime that

occurred.

See,e.g.,BenjaminWeiser& William K. Rashbaum,Anthony WeinerPleadsGuilty to federal
ObscenityCharge,NEW YoRK TIMES (May 19, 2017), availableat https://www.nytimes.com/
2017/05/19/nyregionlanthony-weiner-guilty-plea-sexting.html?_r=0.
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The punishmentshouldalso be tailored to fit the man who has committedthe offense: a

long-sickmanwho requiredthe shockof a federalinvestigationto finally seekhelp. But thatwas

shockenough.Anthonyhasfaithfully participatedin intensivein-patientandout-patienttreatment

for nearlya year,andhe is gettingbetter. Moreover,Anthony doesnot needto go to prisonto get

betterstill; it is clear, in fact, that prison— whereit is virtually assuredhe will notget treatment

— will only arresthis recovery. And prisonwould separateAnthony, a primary caregiverandby

all accountswonderful father, from his son, depriving Anthony of the rock upon which his

recoveryhasbeenbuilt andthemotivatingforce in becomingthebetterpersonhemustbe for both

of them.

A sentenceconsistingof a significant term of probationwould provide both the prospect

of prison without its prematuredeployment,allowing first an opportunity for Anthony to face

appropriatepunishmentin a contextthat will makehis continuingtreatmentpossible. A term of

probationcan include a host of punitive restrictions— sufficient to punishthe unusualoffense

here— while enablingAnthony to continueto get better;minimizing the impacton his son, and

pennittingAnthonyto makeamendsfor his wrongsandto usehis enormoustalentsin a productive

manneroncemore.

I. The SentencingGuidelinesCalculation,BasedOn Illogical Cross-References,Is Due
No Weight

This is a casewherethe SentencingGuidelinerangeshouldcarry virtually no weight. As

the SecondCircuit hasrepeatedlyheld, and as discussedbelow, the Guidelinesrangesemployed

by the U.S. SentencingCommissionfor child pornography-relatedoffensesare not basedon

empirical evidence,lead to irrational outcomes,and shouldnot be acceptedwithout significant

judicial scrutiny. In this casein particular,the Guidelinesrange,as theGovernmentitselfappears

to recognize,leadsto an irrational and indefensibleresult. A modified rangeof 21 to 27 months,
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settledon by the Governmentas “fair andappropriate”is certainlya moremeasuredstartingpoint

that could serveas a benchmarkfor a typical non-contactsexting offense. But here, eventhis

rangeis far excessivegiven the unusualandmitigating circumstancessurroundingthe offense.

As an initial matter,of course,the SentencingGuidelinesare purely advisoryandarejust

one factor among many that courts are required to consider— even when the Guidelines

calculationtracksempirical sentencingconsiderations.SeeUnitedStatesv. Booker,543 U.S. 220,

245 (2005). Thus,while a Guidelinerangeestablishedthrougha soundmethodologyprovidesa

“startingpoint andinitial benchmark”for sentencing,the SupremeCourthasinstructedthatcourts

“may not presume that the Guidelines range is reasonable” and must instead “make an

individualizedassessmentbasedon the factspresented.” Gall v, UnitedStates,552 U.S. 3$, 49—

50 (2007).

While the SentencingGuidelinescalculationsmaythereforeprovideauseful“benchmark”

or “startingpoint” for someoffenses,their value is extraordinarilylimited in certaincategoriesof

cases.As theSupremeCourthasacknowledged,theweightaffordedto theGuidelinescalculations

is owedin part dueto the empirical approachtypically employedby the SentencingCommission,

which “fills an importantinstitutionalrole: It hasthecapacitycourtslack to baseits determinations

on empirical data and national experience,guided by a professionalstaff with appropriate

expertise.”Kimbrough v. United States,552 U.S. $5, l0$—09 (2007) (internaL quotationmarks

omitted). But by the sameline of reasoning,the Guidelinefor a particularoffenseis entitled to

very little weight when the Guideline “do[esj not exemplify the Commission’sexerciseof its

characteristicinstitutionalrole,” that is, without referenceto empirical data. Id. In thesecases,a

sentencingcourt may well concludethat a Guidelinessentence“yields a sentencegreaterthan

necessaryto achieve[18 U.S.C.] § 3553(a)’spurpose,evenin a mine-runcase.” Id.
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Nowhereis this moretruethanin theGuidelinesprescribedfor child pornographyoffenses,

where,as the SecondCircuit has observed,“the Commissiondid not use [its typical] empirical

approachin formulatingtheGuidelinesfor child pornography.” UnitedStatesv. Dorvee,616 f.3d

174, 184—88(2d Cir. 2010)(reversinga Guidelinesrangesentenceas substantivelyunreasonable).

With respectto U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2, the Guideline for offensesinvolving the possessionof child

pornography(implicatedin this casethrougha cross-reference),the Dorveecourt observedthat

the multiple enhancementsunderthe Guideline“routinely result in Guidelinesprojectionsnearor

exceedingthe statutorymaximum,evenin mn-of-the-mill cases,”Id. at 186, wherethe Guidelines

cancall for harshersentencesfor low-level offenderswho haveviewedimagesof minorswithout

physicalcontactthanfor defendantswho engagedin the actual,physicalsexualabuseof children,

Id. at 187. As such, the SecondCircuit counseleddistrict courts to “take seriouslythe broad

discretionthey possessin fashioningsentencesunder § 2G2.2 . . . bearingin mind that they are

dealingwith aneccentricGuidelineof highly unusualprovenancewhich, unlesscarefullyapplied,

can easilygenerateunreasonableresults.” Id. at 188.

While Dorvee addresseda Guideline covering child pornography possessionand

distribution cases,the SecondCircuit has also observedthat the Guideline defectsdescribedin

Dorvee may also extend to the Guideline covering child pornographyproduction offenses,

U.S.S.G.§ 2G2.1,which, like the possessionGuideline,canalsoproduceindefensiblesentencing

ranges. For example,in UnitedStatesv. Sawyer,the SecondCircuit cited Dorvee in discussing

the irrational sentenceproducedby theapplicationof § 2G2.1 to a non-contactproductionoffense,

in which the defendanttook explicit photographsof minorsbut wasnot found to haveengagedin

sexualcontactwith them. 672 F. App’x 63, 66—67, 66 n.3 (2d Cir. 2016) (summaryorder). The
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court expressedastonishmentthat, as in Dorvee,the defendantfaceda far longersentenceunder

the Guidelinethanwould “a defendantwho repeatedlyhassexwith a child.” Id. at 66.

The generalfailure of the child pornographyGuidelinesto track any sort of sentencing

logic is on particulardisplay in the instantcase. The Guidelinesprovide for the applicationof

§ 2G3.1 to convictionsunder 1$ U.S.C. § 1470 for distributionof obscenematerial to a minor.

(PSR¶J 3, 29.) That Guideline is sensibleenoughon its own. It carriesa baseoffenselevel of

ten, § 2G3.1(a);a two-point enhancementfor use of a computerservice, § 2G3.1(b)(3);and a

seven-pointenhancementwhere,as in virtually all sextingcases,the defendantsharesthe obscene

material to encouragethe counterpartto respondin kind, see§ 2G3.1(b)(1)(E). (PSR¶ 3, 29.)

With credit for acceptanceof responsibility,that Guidelineresultsin a rangeof 21 to 27 months

for a defendantin Criminal History CategoryI, a rangethe Governmentrepresentsin the Plea

Agreementwould be “fair and appropriate”here. (PSR¶J 3, 94.) And while a sentencewithin

this rangewould, on the factsof this case,be “greaterthannecessary,”18 U.S.C. § 3553(a),it is

not necessarilyan illogical “baseline” or starting point for a typical non-contactsexting case

involving a teenager.

However, althoughthe applicationof § 2G3.I by itself results in this 21 to 27 month

baseline,two largely circular cross-referencesturn what could be a defensibleGuidelinestarting

point to one devoid of logic or merit, first, a cross-referenceat the end of § 2G3.l directs the

sentencingjudge to the Guideline for possessionof child pornography,§ 2G2.2 — the same

guidelinecondemnedas irrational in Dorvee— if thedefendantreceivedsexuallyexplicit material

from the minor, a circumstancethat is virtually inherentin sextingcases.(SeePSR¶J3, 29.) This

possessionGuidelinewill, by itself, typically extendthe Guidelinescalculationin a sextingcase

j
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to nearor abovethe ten-yearstatutorymaximumsentenceunder 18 U.S.C. § 1470, basedon the

numerousenhancementsfound to be illogical underDorveeandits progeny.

Compoundingthe illogical outcomeof the first cross-reference,the child pornography

possessionGuideline to which the Court is initially referred itself contains a cross-reference

directing the Court to the child pornographyproductionGuideline, § 2G2.l, if the defendant

intendedto inducethe minor to createand sendsexuallyexplicit images,a circumstancethat yet

againoccursin virtually all sextingcasesandthat in practiceis alreadyaccountedfor by the 7-

point enhancementunder U.S.S.G, §‘ 2G3.1(b)(’l)(E,), before either of the cross-referenceswere

applied. (SeePSR¶J 3, 29.) It is hard to fathom how this could be an intentional result of the

SentencingCommission,much lessa rational one, in casesinvolving non-contactsextingwith a

teenagevictim. And yet, the result of this secondcross-referenceis to send the Guidelines

calculationin a typical sextingcasesoaringhigherstill — to 135 to 168 months’ imprisonmentin

this case(but for the statutorycap),effectively treating“run-of-the-mill” casesinvolving sexting

with a minor as more morally repugnantthan physical sexual abuseof children — the very

outcomewarnedagainstin Dorvee. (SeePSR¶J 3, 93.) Likewise, this cross-referencepunishes

far more seriouslya defendantwho catchesa fleeting sexuallyexplicit glimpseof a minor in a

privatevideo chat (as here)than a defendantwho receivesa pre-existingsexuallyexplicit image

of the minor duringthe exchangeandpostsit on the Internetfor the world to view, becausein the

latter casethe defendantwasnot involved in its “production.”36

36 It is worth noting that manycourtshavenot appliedthe cross-referencesin sextingcases,even
whenthe reportedfacts indicatethe applicationis warranted,andhaveinsteadrelied solelyon the
applicationof U.S.S.G.§ 2G3.1 to calculatethe relevantGuidelinerange. See, e.g., SeeUnited
Statesv. Schofield,No. 6:14 Cr. 23 (C-BG), Doc. No. 40 (Dec. 16, 2014, N.D. Tex.), aff’d, 802
F.3d 722 (5th Cir. 2015) (despitethe defendant’sadmissionto receivingsexuallyexplicit images
from a minor, the courtdid not discussor applythecross-reference);UnitedStatesv. Hughes,7:14
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Given the illogical aspectsof the child pornographyGuidelines generally— and the

particularlyabsurdresultsproducedby thoseGuidelineshere— it is little wonderthatmanyjudges

acrossthe countryhaveimposedsubstantiallybelow-Guidelinessentencesin casesgovernedby

theseGuidelines,including casesof probation,evenwhenthe Guidelinescalledfor manyyearsin

prison. See,e.g., UnitedStatesv. R. V, 157 F. Supp.3d 207, 264—65 (E.D.N.Y. 2016) (collecting

caseswheredistrict courtshaveimposed,andcircuit courtshaveaffirmed,sentenceswith minimal

or no incarcerationfor defendantssentencedunderthe child pornographypossessionGuideline).

As for this district specifically, in appropriatecases— where,ashere,thedefendantis assessedto

be a low risk for future crime andthereare othermitigating factors—judgeshavenot hesitated

to reject substantialadvisoryGuidelinesrangesand imposenoncustodialsentences.See, e.g.,

UnitedStatesv. Angelo Trinidad,No. 14 Cr. 537 (NRB) (S.D.N.Y. June23, 2015); UnitedStates

v. DanielPinero,No. 14 Cr. 341 (MN) (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 1, 2015) (sentencingdefendantto a non

incarceratorysentencedespitea Guidelinesrangeof 78—97 months); United Statesv. Patrick

Colon,No. 12 Cr. 462 (VB) (S.D.N.Y. May 21, 2013); UnitedStatesv. ChristopherRessa,No. 11

Cr. 939 (RPP) (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 11, 2013) (imposingsentenceof time served,aroundthreedays,

andsupervisedrelease,despiteadvisoryrangeof 78—97 months);UnitedStatesv. RobertSantana,

No. 10 Cr. 341 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y. Jan.28, 2011) (imposingsentenceof threeyears’ probationand

six months’ communityconfinement,despiteadvisoryrangearoundfive years);UnitedStatesv.

Cr. 72 (RAJ), Doc. No. 39 (Sept. 2, 2014, W.D. Tex.), aff’d, 618 F. App’x 770 (5th Cir. 2015)
(defendantreceivedsexuallyexplicit imaginesof a minor, yet the court did not mentionor apply
thecross-reference);UnitedStatesv. Maldonado,No. 1:08 Cr. 273,Doe.Nos. 121, 122, 123 (Apr.
28, 2010,E.D. Cal.) (defendantreceivedmultiple imagesfrom multiple victims, andthe court did
not apply or discussthe cross-reference).While thesedecisionsmay simply reflectunintentional
errors(andwe do not disputethat the Guidelinerangesetout in the PleaAgreementandadopted
by the pre-sentencingProbationOfficer is on its face correct), they may also reflect an unstated
acknowledgmentby prosecutors,probationdepartments,and/orcourts in thosedistricts that the
cross-referencesleadto unjustly inflated ranges.
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LeonardoMorel-Baca,No. 11 Cr. 427 (DAB) (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 2, 2012)(sentencingdefendantwith

78—97 months’ Guidelinesrangeto time servedof oneday andsupervisedrelease);UnitedStates

v. HectorGarcia,10 Cr. 914 (BSJ), (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 18, 2012); UnitedStatesv. Marvin falikovic,

No. 07 Cr. 906 (NRB) (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 5, 2008); UnitedStatesv. JohnBatkam,No. 05 Cr. 689

(DLC) (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2006).

II The § 3553(a)FactorsDo Not WarrantA CustodialSentence

The factorsthe Court must considerunder 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)— in isolation and taken

together— demonstratethat a sentenceof imprisonmentis not requiredhereandwould result in

punishmentgreaterthannecessaryto achievethe goalsof sentencing.

A. The UniqueNatureandCircumstancesof the Offense,far LessSevereThan
OthersProsecuted,Do Not RequireIncarceration

Pursuantto 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1),the Courtmustconsiderthe “natureandcircumstances

of the offense” during sentencing,and pursuantto 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A),a sentencemust

reflect “the seriousnessof the offense.” Anthony’s conduct, while illegal and wrongful, was

significantly less egregiousthan other casesinvolving sexuallyexplicit online communications

with a teenagevictim. While it is not possibleto identify eachand every suchcaseprosecuted

nationally(particularlyas most do not involve opinionspublishedon Westlawor elsewhere),we

havebeenable to identify fifteen casesinvolving sextingwith a minor prosecutedin the Southern

District of New York from 2005 to date,a particularlyrelevantdatapool not only becauseit is the

district of prosecution,but also becauseof the carethe U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern

District ofNew York is knownfor taking in consideringappropriatechargesandresolutionsunder

a statutory schemethat, if applied indiscriminately, could result in a fifteen-year mandatory

minimumchild pornography“production” sentencefor aneighteen-year-oldaskingherseventeen-

year-oldboyfriendto takeandsendan explicit “selfie.” See18 U.S.C. § 2251(a).

37
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A carefullook at thesefifteen casesrevealsa starkconclusion: Anthony’s caseis on orders

of magnitudeless egregiousthanany that haspreviouslybeenchargedas a federalcrime in this

district.37 Indeed,we haveseenno otherfederalprosecutions— anywhere— that involve minor

victims seekingout a defendantand encouragingthe defendantto engagein explicit conductso

that the defendantcouldbe publicly exposed.

As an initial matter, all other casesinvolving sexting betweenan adult and a minor or

minors prosecutedin the SouthernDistrict have involved defendantswith an apparentsexual

interestin minorswho havesoughtout minor victims on the internetfor exploitation. This case

startedtheotherway around. Anthonyhasno deviantsexualinterestin minorsandwasnot seeking

themout on the internet. Instead,thevictim heresoughtout Anthonyspecifically,knowingexactly

who hewas,andwith the goal of eliciting his famouslybadbehavioronline andprofiting from the

resulting publicity. Indeed, the offense conduct here does not involve a single one of the

aggravatingcircumstancespresentin the sextingoffensesthathavebeenprosecutedin this district.

Suchcaseshavealwaysinvolvedat leastone— andalmostalwaysmorethanone— of threekey

aggravatingfactors: (1) actual or attemptedsexualcontactwith a minor; (2) a commonset of

predatorybehaviors,such as using deceptionto initiate the sexting relationshipwith the minor

(e.g., pretendingto be a fellow teen)and/orthreateningto publicly exposethe minor if the minor

breaksoff contact; or (3) the abuseof a relationshipof authority or trust (e.g., casesinvolving

teachers,coaches,andchild therapists).This patternof aggravatingfactors is alsoevidentin out

of-district sextingcases,including from theEasternDistrict ofNew York andcasesthathavebeen

While our review of casesextendedback to 2005, we did not identify any casesfrom 2005
through2007,andit is unlikely that anypre-datethis period,given the adventof smartphonesand
associatedmessagingapplicationsin the mid to late 2000s.
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recentlyaddressedby the SecondCircuit, aswell as in casesnationally.38 Yet noneof thesethree

hallmarkfactorsarepresenthere.

1. Actual or AttemptedPhysicalcontactWith A Minor

A large subsetof sextingcasesin the SouthernDistrict (andbeyond)are essentiallychild

enticementcases,wherethe exchangeof explicit imagesservesas preparationor “grooming” for

the planned(and, tragically, often completed)sexualabuseof a child. See,e.g., UnitedStatesv.

?vlatthew Tivy, 1:15 Cr. 855 (RA) (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (defendantinitiated communicationswith a

minor throughan online dating app, engagedin sexualactswith the minor, recordedtheseacts,

and sharedthe recordings);UnitedStatesv. HassanKhan, 1:15 Cr. 804 (JSR)(S.D.N.Y. 2015)

(defendantsextedwith an 11-year-oldgirl from 2007through2013,thenmetwith theminor twice

to engagein sexualintercourse);UnitedStatesv. JonathanDetaura,7:12Cr. 812 (S.D.N.Y.) (male

defendantposedas a 17-year-oldgirl to meeta 15-year-oldboy online, arrangedto meetandmet

38 See, e.g., United States v. Broxmeyer, 699 F.3d 265, 270—74 (2d Cir. 2012) (N.D.N.Y.)
(defendant,a field hockeycoach,in additionto sexuallyexplicit Internetexchanges,engagedin a
sexualrelationshipwith one of his 17-year-oldplayers,rapedanother17-year-old,sodomizeda
15-year-oldplayer,rapeda 13-year-oldplayer,andrapedor sexuallyassaultedat leastthreeother
minors); UnitedStatesv, Pugtisi, 458 F. App’x 31, 34 (2d Cir. 2012) (N.D.N.Y.) (defendant,a
teacherat the victim’s school, soughtsexuallyexplicit photographsin internetcommunications
and had sexual intercoursewith a 16-year-oldstudent);UnitedStatesv. Mirvis, 1:17 Mj. 00358
(PK) (E.D.N.Y. 2017) (defendantenticedminors to sendhim sexuallyexplicit imagesover the
internet,and threatenedat leastone minor with revealingthe imagesif the minor refusedto send
more images); United Satatesv. Mtcrillo, 2:17 Cr. 00240 (LDW) (E.D.N.Y. 2017) (defendant
posedas a 17-year-oldto enticea minor to sendsexuallyexplicit imagesand attemptedto meet
with the minor); UnitedStatesv. Hutchinson,528 F. App’x 894, 895 (11th Cir. 2014) (defendant
posedas a teenageronline to meetminors, threatenedto harmthem if they did not sendsexually
explicit images,andrapedseveralminors); UnitedStatesv. Shill, No. 3:1 0-CR-493-BR,2012WL
6569394,at *4 (D. Or. Dec. 17, 2012),aff’d, 740 F.3d 1347 (9th Cir. 2014) (defendant“friended”
multiple minors— classmatesof his daughter— online in an effort to persuadethemto engagein
physicalsexualcontact);UnitedStatesv. Nielsen,694 F.3d 1032, 1034 (9th Cir. 2012) (defendant
connectedwith 12-yearold throughsocial mediasite, sextedwith her, then useddrugsto entice
her to engagein physicalsexualcontact).

3
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the boy, and engagedin sexualactivity with him); United Statesv. Evan Zauder, 1:12 Cr. 659

(LAK) (2012) (defendant,a gradeschool teacher,usedthe internetto engagein sexuallyexplicit

communicationswith at leastthreeminors,attemptedto meetat leasttwo minors,and engagedin

sexualintercoursewith at leastone minor).39 In other cases,there is a physicalproximity and a

discussionof physicalcontactbetweenthe defendantandminor, but the offenseis detectedbefore

contactoccurs. SeeUnitedStatesv. PaaIKlvkken, 1:16 Cr. 593 (VEC) (2016)(defendantengaged

in sexuallyexplicit internetmessagingwith a 13-year-oldgirl whosebedroomhe could look into

from his own apartment,enticedtheminor to engagein sexuallyexplicit conductwhile hewatched

from his own home, describedsex acts he wished to perform with the minor, and discussed

possibilityof meetingbeforebeingcaught).

2. PredatoryBehaviors

Anothercategoryof cases,which often overlapswith the first andcoversalmostall of the

sextingcasesprosecutedin the SouthernDistrict, involvesthe useof a recurringsetof predatory

behaviorsendemicin theseoffenses,but entirelyabsenthere. Often, thedefendantinitiatescontact

with the minor victim, either by stealing (or claiming to have stolen) sexual imagesthrough

hackingthe minor’s accountsor pretendingto be a fellow minor to win trust andobtain the initial

sexuallyexplicit images. Often, thesedefendantsthen engagein “sextortion” by threateningto

releasethe ill-gotten imagesto thepublic, theminor’s parents,or eventhe police, if the minor does

not provide additional imagesor engagein othersexuallyexploitativeconduct. See,e.g., United

Statesv. Kelvin Acosta, 16 Cr. 296 (PAC) (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (defendanthackedemail accounts

belongingto teenagegirls, identified compromisingmaterial,andthreatenedto sendthe material

The parentheticaldescriptionsfor theseand other of the sexting casesdiscussedherein are,
whereno publishedopinion is cited, basedon a review of chargingdocumentsand other public
filings, suchas Governmentsentencingsubmissionsandsentencingtranscripts.
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to their families, friends, and schools,unlessthey sent him additional imagesand/or paid him

money); UnitedStatesv. MichaelMari,i, 7:17 Cr. 336 (KMK) (S.D.N.Y. 2016)(defendant,posing

as a minor, tricked victim into sendinghim a sexuallyexplicit photograph,andthreatenedto post

her sexually explicit photographon the internet if she failed to provide more, which she did,

including bestiality images);UnitedStatesv. David Ohnmacht,7:17 Mj. 1857 (S.D.N.Y. 2017)

(defendantpersuadeda 14-year-oldgirl to createa sexuallyexplicit videoandthreatenedto release

thevideo if theminordid not sendhim additionalsexuallyexplicit videos);UnitedStatesv. Robert

I Garneau,7:16 Cr. 757 (NSR) (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (defendantreceivedsexuallyexplicit images

from a 12-year-old,threatenedthe minor with arrest if the minor did not continueto sendhim

images,andengagedin similar conductwith twenty additionalminors).

In other cases,the defendantshave offered paymentsto the minors in return for the

productionof explicit images.SeeUnitedStatesv. JonCruz, 1:15 Cr. 338 (PKC) (S.D.N.Y. 2015)

(a teacheranddebatecoach,who targetedminorsthatwerethesameageashis students,convinced

the minorsto providesexuallyexplicit images,sometimesby payingthem). In all of thesecases,

thedefendantshave,in somemanner,preyedon minors(usuallymorethanone)andcoercedthem

into producingexplicit imagesthrougha combinationof deceptionand threats. Seealso United

Statesv. Mark Warren, 1:14 Cr. 78 (SHS)(S.D.N.Y. 2014) (posedas a teenageron varioussocial

mediasitesto enticeteensto engagein sexuallyexplicit conduct,which he secretlyrecordedand

threatenedto publishif theydid not providehim with additionalexplicit content);UnitedStatesv.

Daniel Coons, 7:14 Cr. 454 (CS) (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (multiple minors took and sharedsexually

explicit photographswith defendant,which he threatenedto publishif theydid not sendadditional

images);UnitedStatesv. Matthew Vado, 1:14Cr. 666 (PAE) (S.D.N.Y. 2014)(engagedin sexually
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explicit communicationswith thirteen minors betweenthe agesof 9 to 15, and threatenedto

publishthe resultingimagesif the minorsdid not continueto sendhim additionalexplicit images).

3. Positionof Trustor A tuthority Over Children

A third categoryof cases— which canoverlapwith casesin the prior two categories—

involvesadultsin a positionof trust or authoritywith respectto minors. Suchcasesin this district

haveincludedthe prosecutionsof teachers,campcounselors,coaches,anda child therapist,each

of whom was in a position to — and often did — abusea relationshipof trust and authority

involving minors. See United Statesv. Marctts Strozid, 7:17 Cr. 320 (CS) (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (a

wrestling coach,who connectedwith a 14-year-oldhe initially met at a wrestling camp, found

nudephotographsof the minor from anotherinternetsource,and usedthe photographsto extort

sexualacts from the minor); United Statesv. Elliot Halberstam,1:15 Cr. 825 (JLC) (S.D.N.Y.

2015) (a therapist,who coercedformer patientinto engagingin sexuallyexplicit conductfor the

purposeof producingexplicit images);Jon Cruz, 1:15 Cr. 338 (seeabove,a teacherand debate

coachwho solicited explicit imagesfrom minors); UnitedStatesv. JonathanDelaura, 7:12 Cr.

$12 (KMK) (S.D.N.Y.) (seeabove, servedas tennis instructor for at least one of his multiple

victims).

* *

Thesefactors— one or more of which are presentin eachand every adult-minorsexting

caseprosecutedin this district — are entirely absenthere. As an initial matter,Anthony has no

sexual obsessionwith minors. He has not pursuedminors, online or elsewhere. His particular

sicknessdid not revolve around minors at all, but rather with the compulsionto respondand

sexuallyengagewith all-cornerson the internet,a destructivebut not inherentlycriminal habit that

sweptinto its ambit the teenagevictim here,throughan indisputablyunusualsetof circumstances.

Nor doesAnthony’s offenseexhibit any of the threeseverelyaggravatingfactorspresentin every
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otherprosecution:(1) actualor attemptedphysicalcontact,(2) a predatorysetof behaviors,or (3)

a relationshipof trust or authoritywith minors. Anthonyneversoughtphysicalcontactwith JD;

their exchanges,to Anthony,weresimply internetfantasy.4°Anthonydid not act asa predator:he

did not hide who he was from JD (it was she who disguisedher purposeof documentinghis

compulsivesexualbehaviorfor monetarygain), and he did not threatenJD with exposureif she

stoppedthesecommunications(very much unlike the typical case,the victim appearsto have

soughtsuchexposurefrom the outset,most recently in an InsideEdition interview in which she

allowed imagesof her face to be broadcast).Nor did Anthony haveany relationshipof trust or

authority with JD; he didn’t even know her. None of this excusesAnthony from the criminal

behaviorhe engagedin with ID, which he acceptedfull responsibilityfor during his plea and

reaffirms in his letter to the Court. But the fact remainsthatAnthony’s criminal misconductis so

unlike anyothersextingoffenseprosecutedin this district that it lies in a differentworld entirely.

The Government,while determiningthatthis caseshouldbe prosecuted,appearsin accord

with this assessmentof offenseseverity. As notedabove,theGovernmenttook theunprecedented

stepof permittingAnthonyto pleadguilty to an obscenityratherthan a child pornography—related

charge,aswell asthe furtherextraordinarystepof agreeingthata below-Guidelinesentencewould

be “fair andappropriate”herebased,in part, on the “specific circumstancesof theoffenseconduct

in this case,” a concessionso unusualthat the Governmentcaveatedthat it “is not intendedas

precedentfor othercases.” (PleaAgreement,Ex. 42 at 4.) The Governmenthasmadethis point

eloquentlyin its sentencingmemorandumin UnitedStatesv. Crziz, 15 Cr. 33$ (PKC), explaining

40 As Dr. Must notesin her evaluationAnthony’s “behavior largely fits the patterndescribedin
the field as Virtual Offending. . . behavior,wherebythe online communicationswith minorstend
to be fantasy-driven. Sexual fantasyis the goal, rather than contactsexualoffending.” (Must
Reportat 2$.)
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why Anthony’s conductcould not be comparedto the conductof the defendantin that case— a

high schoolteacherwho solicitedandreceivedexplicit imagesfrom at leasteight minors— based

on the lack of aggravatingfactorsin Anthony’s case. Specifically, the Governmentwrote:

Crnz’s argumentthat his caseis mostanalogousto UnitedStatesv. Weinershould
be rejectedoutright.... Weineradmittedto engagingin sexuallyexplicit Internet
communicationswith one minor teenager;Cruz hadat leasteight victims, and,by
his own admission,likely manymore. . . . There is no allegationthat Weinerhid
his true identity; Cruzwentto greatlengthsto concealwho he wasandwhy he was
soliciting child pornography.And, while Weineris not allegedto havesoughtout
his minor victim, Crnz actively and persistentlytargetedthe boys with whom he
communicated,evenaskingsomeof themto referhim to their friends. While both
casesinvolve indisputablyserious,hanTiful conduct,the scopeanddepthof Cruz’s
crimes— involving multiple victims over many years— makesthe defendant’s
comparisonto the Weinercaseentirely inappropriate.

(Br. for the U.S., UnitedStatesv. Cruz, 15Cr. 33$ (PKC), Doc. No.55 (S.D.N.Y. July 7,2017).)

B. Anthony’s History andPersonalCharacteristicsWarrantLeniency

Not only was Anthony’s offense far less egregiousthan the sexting offensestypically

prosecutedin this district, it was committedby a defendantstrugglingwith a sicknessthat had

already laid grievous waste to most of what matteredto him in life. Pursuantto 1$ U.S.C.

§ 3553(a)(l),theCourtmustconsiderthe “the history andcharacteristicsof the defendant”during

sentencing,includingthe “mental or emotionalcondition” of the defendant.Rita v. UnitedStates,

551 U.S. 33$, 364—65 (2007). Thesefactorstoo counselleniency. Anthony’s offensewas borne

of mental illness, not maleficence.His astoundingcommitmentto treatmentand future wellness

speaksto a corestrengthto his characterandto the lack of risk he posesin the outsideworld. And

despitehis personalfailings, Anthonymustbejudgedtoo for thegreatdealof goodhedid for New

Yorkerswho dependeduponhim throughouthis yearsof public service.

1. The OffenseWastheProductofSickness,Not Venality

Therecanbe no questionthat, at the time of the offense,Anthony was a very sick man, in

the throesof a self-destructivecompulsionthat sweptup innocentsin its wake. Anthony did not
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commit his offenseas many a sexualpredatordoes— seekingto flout society’s standardsand

taking stepsto get away with it — but was insteadcaughtin a cycle of conductthat, from its

inception,wasall but guaranteedto endin a shamefulpublic spectacleand likely arrest. Stepping

back,the factsarestriking: Anthonyhadnot once,but twice lost his careerin public scandals(first

in Congressand then plummetingfrom front-runnerstatusin the New York City mayoralrace),

andcauseddeeppain to himselfandto thosearoundhim, by respondingto the sexualoverturesof

strangerson the internet, in his own name. Nevertheless,in January2016, Anthony again

respondedto a stranger— this time, a misguidedteenager— andagaintook no stepsto conceal

his identity, afterwhich the strangeragainbroughtthe storyof their exchangesto thepress.These

arenot the actionsof a schemingcriminal; it is the compulsiveconductof a sick mancaughtin a

cycleof self-destruction.

Unsurprisingly,the mentalhealthprofessionalswho have examinedAnthony havecome

to the samecore conclusion:Dr. Levinson, Dr. Must, and Mr. Kelly have all determinedthat

Anthonyhasno particularizedsexualinterestin teenagersthatwould drive him to commita crime

to satisfyhis fantasies.41(P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 1—2; Must Reportat 14, 28.) Instead,Anthony

was in the grip of compulsiveconduct that causedhim to seek attention and adorationfrom

strangerson the Internet, a doomedeffort to fill an emotional void that was thwarting such

connectionsin the real world. For example,Dr. Levinson has describedAnthony’s illness as
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involving “addictive behaviorin which [Anthony] compulsivelyrespondedto strangersover the

internetto fill [his emotional] void.” Mr. Kelly similarly describesAnthony as having “sexual

compulsivity problems,sometimesreferredto as ‘sex addiction,” a disorder that he explains

“encompassesa range of compulsivesexual behaviors,and does not always include physical

sexualencounters.” (P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 1.) Mr. Kelly noted that Anthony in particular

displayed“an addictive,compulsivetendencytoward social/sexualinteractionswith anonymous

adult womenvia the internet.” (Id. at 4.) finally, Dr. Must describedAnthony’s “online sexual

behavior” as being “motivatedby addictivetendencies,emotionalproblems,social isolation and

low self-worth” and involves “highly compulsivebehavioraimedto relieveemotionalproblems.”

(Must Reportat 2$.)

The “sexual compulsivity” that Dr. Must (Must Reportat 27—29), Dr. Levinson,andMr.

Kelly have concludedAnthony suffers from, or “sex addiction” as it is sometimesdescribed,

involves sexual behaviors that an individual finds to be irresistible despite an individual’s

awarenessof negativeconsequences— that is, Anthony’s conductprecisely. See, e.g., StevenN.

Gold & ChristopherL. Heffrier, SexualAddiction: Many Conceptions,Minimal Data, 18 CLINICAL

PSYCHOL. REV. 367, 368—69 (199$); Aviel Goodman, Diagnosis and Treatmentof Sexual

Addiction, 19 J. SEX & MARITAL THERAPY 225, 306 (1993). following emergingscientific

developments,courtshavedemonstratedincreasingunderstandingthat “sex addiction” and other

behavioraladdictions(suchas compulsivegambling,overeating,or otherdetrimentalbehaviors)

that trigger neurochemicalreward42merit the sameconsiderationas substanceaddictionsin the

42 See,e.g.,Jon E. Grant, Marc N. Potenza,Aviv Weinstein,andDavid A. Gorelick, Introduction
to Behavioral Addictions, AM. J. DRUG ALCOHOL ABUsE (2011); Marc Lewis, Behavioral
Addictionsvs. SubstanceAddictions; Whetherit’s drugs, booze,sex, or gambling, the brain can‘t
tell thedifference,PSYCHOLOGYTODAY (Jun. 17, 2013),https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/
addicted-brains/201306/behavioral-addictions-vs-substance-addictions.

46

Case 1:17-cr-00307-DLC   Document 24   Filed 09/13/17   Page 49 of 71



sentencingcontext. For example,in a recentsentencing,JudgeRakoffheardexperttestimonyon

the disputedissueof whetherthe defendanthad a “gambling addiction” that could be relevantto

sentencing.SeeUnitedStatesv. Caspersen,No. 16 Cr. 414 (JSR),Doc. No. 37, at 5—45 (S.D.N.Y

Dec. 7, 2016). After hearingthis testimony,JudgeRakoffconcludedthat it was“more likely than

not that there is sucha thing as gamblingdisorder” andthat it had “diminished [the defendant’s]

ability to makerationaldecisions.” Id. at 45:13—18. Accordingly,JudgeRakofftook theaddiction

into considerationin sentencingthe defendantwell-below the Guidelines,stating:

Amongthemostfundamentalprogramsof our legal systemwhenit comesto crime
arethatwe distinguishbetweenpeoplewho commitcrimesbecausetheyhavemade
a rational choice that they would rather do somethingantisocialand harmful to
othersin orderto gain their materialbenefitsor otherbenefits,and thosewho act
with diminishedcapacityandwho are to somedegreenot actingwith a full deck.
And the reasonthe legal systemmakesthat distinction is becausethe criminal
justice systemin particularis an expression,amongother things, of fundamental
moral principles.

Id. at 46:21—47:6;seeUnitedStatesv. Liii, 267 F. $upp.2d 371,376—77(E.D.N.Y. 2003)(granting

a “downwarddeparmreto reflect [the defendant’s]significantly reducedmentalcapacitycaused

by his pathologicalgamblingaddiction”); UnitedStatesv. Harris, No. 192 Cr. 455 (CSH), 1994

WL 683429,at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 6, 1994), aff’d, 79 F.3d 223 (2d Cir. 1996) (finding that “a

pathologicalgamblingdisorder. . . may qualify in law as a form of ‘diminished capacity’ under

U.S.S.G.§ 5K2.13”).

So too here. Anthony suffered from a debilitating addiction — not to sexting with

teenagers,but to engagingin online sexual behaviorwith strangers. His inability to stop his

behavior,evenaftersomanynegativeconsequences,only underscoresthedisorderedthinking that

promptedAnthonyto respondto JD. And his resultingcommunicationswith JD werenot the acts

of someonewho “made a rational choice that they would rather do somethingantisocial and

harmful to othersin orderto gain . . . benefits,”seeCaspersen,No. 16 Cr. 414 (JSR), Doc. No.
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37, at 46:21—47:6,but the acts of a sick man taking yet anotherstep in his own self-induced

obliteration. Indeed, such sexually compulsivebehavior has been recognizedby courts as a

mitigating factor sufficient to warrant a lower sentencein child pornographycases. See, e.g.,

UnitedStatesv. Tanasi,No. 02 Cr. 96 (RWS),2004WL 406724,at *3_4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 3, 2004)

(granting a downwarddeparturedue, in part, to the defendant’sdiminishedcapacitycausedby

sexualaddiction that led him to “indiscriminately” collect and transmit pornographicimages);

United Statesv. Shasky, 939 F. Supp. 695, 697, 702 (D. Neb. 1996) (granting a downward

departuredue, in part, to evidencethat the defendantsufferedfrom a pornographyaddiction).

2. Anthony’sExtraordinaryProgressin Treatment

The fact thatAnthony’s crimewastheproductof sicknessandnot venalitymeritsleniency

under1$ U.S.C. § 3553(a);however,thatmerefact alonewould meanfar lessif Anthonywasnot

also deeplycommittedto his treatmentand recovery— a testamentboth to his characterand to

the diminishedrisk he posesto others.

Therecan be no questionthat the progressAnthony hasmadesinceseekingtreatmentin

September2016 has beenremarkable. Dr. Levinson,who evaluatedAnthony directly after the

Daily Mail exposéand placedhim in an in-patient recoveryprogram,observedthat he entered

treatmentwith somereluctance,but when she saw him againa few monthslater, her evaluation

and additional testsmadeclear that he was “thoroughly motivatedto change.” (Must Report at

13—14.) And as Dr. Must, the Court-appointedpsychologist attests: Anthony has taken

“responsibilityfor the sumofhis behavior”and“appearsto betakinghis treatmentvery seriously,

and has the ability to recoverrelatively quickly despitesetbacks.” (Must Report at 20, 22.)

n Indeed,evidenceof Anthony’s commitmentto i
-- .
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Concurring in the judgementof his two peers, Paul Kelly, Anthony’s treating therapistsince

January, writes that “Anthony has shown steady and consistentprogress” and that he has

“confidencethatwith continuedwork in the mannerhe hasbeenengagingAnthonywill continue

to maintainhealthyand appropriatesocial and sexualboundaries.” (P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 2.)

Anthony’s commitmentto continuinghis treatmentis clear. Anthony regularly attends

treatmentmeetings,where,as a fellow recovereedescribes,he “sharesfrequently. . . with a keen

intelligenceandunsparinginsight into the seriousnessandconsequencesof what he haspublicly

calledhis ‘sickness.” Letter, Ex. 36.) As recountedby Anthony’s sponsor to

Dr. Must regardingthe “seriousnesswith which [Anthony] is taking his problem”:

recalledhow Mr. Weinercameto ameetingin snowyweatheron crutches,
not coercedor proddedby anyone. He notedhow he recentlyattendedan intense
retreat,which he suggestedwas anotherexampleof him taking his personalwork
seriously. He sharedthatMr. Weinerandhework in a structured,academicmanner
that is a good fit for him, and he follows throughcompletingthe homework,and
reachesout to him if he is in duress.Using“willingness” asa descriptorto describe
Mr. Weiner, comparedhim to many otherswho are presentin persononly,
as opposedto Mr. Weinerwho goesto extra lengthsto betterhimself.

(Must Report at 12—13.) And severalothers have remarkedon Anthony’s refusal to miss his

recoverymeetings,evenafterdebilitatingkneesurgery. For example, writes:

Everyweekthat I went,Anthonywasthere. Anthonyhobbledin aftersurgerywith
crutches,camein feelingsick from a cold, camein weekafterweekno matterwhat
andthentalkedto peopleafter the meeting. He showedme hope,by his example
and dedication,just by being there, talking and sharinghis road to recovery. He
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showedmethatcommitmentto this programcanhelpmaintainsobrietyandchange
our own lives aswell as the peoplearoundus who rely on us andcarefor us.

( Letter, Ex. 34; seesLetter, Ex. 30; Must Reportat 12—13.)

finally, Anthony describesthe journey he has undertakenfrom a man unwilling to

recognizea problemto someonenearlya yearinto recovery:

For yearsI was in denial,andevenwhenI half-heartedlysoughthelp,. . . I got the
wrong kind. Well-meaningprofessionalswho stressedbetter decision making
unwittingly helpedme deny I was dealingwith addictivebehavior. I lost a career
whenmy secretlife becamepublic. I lostjobswhenI couldn’t stop. Finally, I went
to rehab, recognizedclearly what this pattern really was. I finally found
professionalswho help memanagemy sickness.I founda communityof peopleto
supportme in my recovery. Now at this writing, I am 345 daysoff my destructive
behaviorsandhavea daily practiceto help me neverreturnto them.

(A. WeinerLetter, Ex. 1.)

Anthony’s sickness,and his dedicatedefforts to overcomehis disease,merit substantial

leniency. See, e.g., UnitedStatesv. Grinbergs,No. 8:05 Cr. 232, 2008 WL 4191145,at *9 (D.

Neb. Sept. 8, 2008) (imposing a sentence75% below the Guideline range due in part to “the

defendant’smentalcondition . . . [which] contributedto the offense,”andhis “excellentprogress

in rehabilitation”); UnitedStatesv. Boyden,No. 06 Cr. 20243,2007 WL 1725402,at 1, *7_b

(E.D. Mich. June14, 2007)(imposinga sentenceof onedaydue, in part, to thedefendant’ssuccess

in therapytreatinghis “sexualaddiction”).

3. Anthony’sDecadesin PublicService

The fact that Anthony’s offense was the product of sickness,and that he has made

remarkableefforts addressingthis sickness,are aspectsof his “history and characteristics”that

warrantleniency. But also importantto this assessmentis the remarkablegoodwork — muchof

it out of the limelight — that Anthony has done through decadesof public service. Anthony’s

nearly thirty years in public service left an indelible impact on scoresof New Yorkers. As

describedin detail at the outsetof this submission,suprapp. 6—12, Anthony dedicatedhimself
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tirelesslyto the needsof his constituents,fighting for themon a rangeof diverseissues. In short,

while Anthony’s worst act will substantiallyinform the sentencehe receives,thesemoments—

someof his best— shouldplay a role as well.

Indeed,Anthony’sempathyandcommitmentto helpingthosein needstill reverberatewith

Anthony’sconstituents,staffers,andfriendsmanyyearslater. As Anthony’sformer

,writes: “I haveseenthattheme— of protectingtheunderdog— repeatedoverand

overagain,throughoutAnthony’s career... . Offering supportto thosemostvulnerableis central

to his character.. . .“ Letter, Ex. 15.) As

writes of the “overwhelminglypositiverole” Anthony“played in thepublic

spherethroughhis careerin public service”:

[Anthony s]toodup with low-incomeNew Yorkers andnonprofit organizationsto
publically call for improved public policies to fight poverty, hunger, and
homelessness.He also fought for suchpolicies behindthe scenes,standingup to
leadersof his own party to pushthem to ensurethat healthcareprogramswould
covermoremoderateincomeAmericansandto getthemto moreforcefully oppose
cuts in federalnutrition assistancebenefits..

Letter, Ex. 10.) And, as JanetDavas,a communityleaderwho workedwith Anthony on

serviceprojects,writes:

It was always interestingto be out with him in public, in particularin his former
district andto watchthe reactionof his former constituentswhenthey recognized
him. It was obvious that they caredfor him — but without fail, they askedand
sometimesbeggedthat he return to Congressso that he could help them— as he
had done so ably as their representative.In turn, he was alwayskind and patient
andwould heareachindividual out andoffer adviceandsuggestions.

(I. DavasLetter, Ex. 12.)

finally, one anecdotethat relays is particularly poignant, and speaksto

Anthony’s empathyand goodnessbeneaththe public personaof brashCongressionalbrawler:

Shortly beforehis run for Congress,Anthony’s thengirlfriend movedin with her
cats. One night while she was out of town, one of the cats fell off the roof of
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Anthony’s building and managedto survive. Anthony called me early the
following morning. He hadbeenat an emergencyveterinaryserviceall night and
hadnot slept. I haveneverseenhim so shaken.

In the following weeks,Anthonynursedthe cat to health. In fact, he grew so close
to his girlfriend’s cat that after he andhis girlfriend endedtheir relationship,they
agreedthathewould get to keepit. That one-eyedcat wasstill alive the last time I
visited Anthony, almost15 yearslater.

Letter, Ex. 15.) This examplesaysmuchaboutAnthony. His outwardpersonahas

beenthat of a fighter. His ability to makeandmaintainintimatepersonalconnectionswith other

peopleis somethinghehasalwaysstruggledwith, a causeofhis descentinto sickness.But beneath

what is at times an impenetrablesurface,thereis a deepandempathetickindness. It is a quality

seenmostclearly in Anthony’s relationshipwith his son.

4. Anthony’s Commitmentto His Son

Onethemethat shinesthroughthe letters from family, friends, fellow recoverees,andthe

mentalhealthprofessionalswho haveexaminedandcaredfor Anthony is the extraordinaryjob he

hasdoneas a fatherto his son, yearsold. (A.

WeinerLetter,Ex. 1.) wasbornat thetime thatAnthony’spublic life wascollapsingaround

him, and there is no questionthat Anthony has channeledthe passionand talent he had once

reservedfor public dutiesinto beingthe kind of fatherto his sonthathe neverhad.

Since birth, Anthonyhasbeena loving, attentive,andenergeticfather,
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As Anthony’s brother, Jason,noted to Anthony’s pre-sentencingProbation

Officer, Anthony is “extremelydedicatedto his son” (PSR¶ 60), and asJasonwrites to the Court:

Anthonyis anamazingdad. MaybethebestI know. Yes,he is
piii- h c

(J. WeinerLetter, Ex. 4.) friends havenotedAnthony’s devotionto as well. As Rabbi

alsocontinuestoday.

Despitethe currentdisarrayin his life, Anthony’s devotionto

DarrenLevin writes:

(RabbiD. Levine Letter, Ex. 22.) And, asAnthonyhimselfwrites of his relationshipwith
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The only honestand true part of me wasmy love for him and my desireto make
,,1 I

(A. WeinerLetter, Ex. 1.)

Anthony is alsodriven to provide the happychildhoodthathe did not have.

Perhapsnot surprisingly, as a result, it is clear that is the motivating force in

Anthony’s recovery: Anthony is painfully awareof how his conducthas hurt his son, and this

insight hasmotivatedAnthonyto makehimselfbetter. Indeed,asDr. Must writes in her report:

(Must Reportat 12.) Mr. Kelly hasmadesimilar observations,noting:
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(P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 3.) And, Anthonywrites poignantlyof his realizationin recoverythat

his sextinghabithadput at risk the oneaspectof his life thathadnot beendestroyed:

I would tell myself, if I get right then all the rest of my messcan be
forgiven. If I loved him enoughandgavehim an amazingchildhood,thenat least
onepersonwill love me throughout.

But I waswrong. So long as I was still doing things that so were so completelyat
oddswith my valuesandthe valuesI wantedfor him, I wasnot beingthe fatherhe
needed. I wasnot teachinghim perseveranceandstrengthby gettingup aftereach
embarrassingexposeaboutmeandcontinuingto bea gooddad. No. By not getting
help, by continuingto dishonorhis mother,by living in shameand secrets,I was
not teachinghim courage. far from it. I regretit so much it makesme shakejust
to write this.

I seenow that this whole terrible thing was necessaryto bring me to this place
whereI canlook my sonin the eyesoonandtell him that I acceptthe responsibility
for my actionsand every day, one day at a time, I am working to live a life of
integrity.

(A. WeinerLetter, Ex. 1.)

C. IncarcerationIs Not Requiredto SatisfytheRemainingGoalsof Sentencing

1$ U.S.C. § 3553(a) also requiresthat the Court imposea sentence“sufficient, but not

greaterthan necessary,”to “promote respect for the law,” “provide just punishmentfor the

offense,” “afford adequatedeterrenceto criminal conduct,” and “protect the public from further

crimes of the defendant.” 1$ U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A)—(C). Basedon the uniquenatureof the

offenseconductdiscussedabove,as well as Anthony’s individual circumstances,a sentenceof

incarcerationis not necessarysatisfythesegoals.

1. Antlwny ‘s IgnominyIs Itselfa Deterrent

A periodof incarcerationis not necessaryto deterthe public from following in Anthony’s

footsteps. Simply put, no one wants to be Anthony Weiner— he is a nationalpariah. Sincehis

communicationswith JD havebecomepublic, Anthonyhasbeenthe subjectof widespreadpublic
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flogging and even a death threat in the popular media. Anthony’s former colleagues in

governmenthavepublicly shunnedhim,45 and he is the routine targetof late night barbs.46 As

reportedin oneof the countlessstoriesby tabloid reporterswho trackhis everymove,Anthony is

now “a virtual hermit,scorned,derided,brokeandalone,but for his motherandfatherin Brooklyn

andhis Manhattanrestaurateurbrother”47— this from a manmany once laudedas a bright light

of Congress,a possibleMayor of New York, and maybemore, beforehis all-consumingsexting

habit destroyedeachpossibility, mostdevastatinglyin this final criminal iteration of it. Anthony

is now a walking, talking billboard againstsextingwith a minor, andwould be that evenwithout

a federal conviction. Now, he will be a federalfelon and a registeredsex offendertoo, offering

moredeterrentstill to anyonethinking of following his path. Prisonis not neededto deterpeople

from following Anthony’s path. Anthonyhasdoesa fine job of this himself.

2. AnthonyDoesNot Presenta Threatto OtherMinors

Nor is a term of incarcerationnecessaryto dissuadeAnthony himself from engagingin

criminal conduct. While it is easyto think of Anthony as a “repeatoffender”— after all, this is

‘ SeeSidneyfussell,Sad.SickldiotAnthonyWeinerto PleadGuilty to Sexting15-Year-OldGirl,
GlzMoDo (May 19, 2017), gizmodo.com/sad-sick-idiot-anthony-weiner-to-plead-guilty-to-sexti
1795368149;YouTuBE,Bill Maher: “I’ll ‘F*cking Kill Anthony Weiner’ f Clinton Loses (Nov.
5, 2016),https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Bl2ve4uhkko.

See Maggie Haberman& Alexander Burns, for Democrats, Anttioin’ Weiner Makes an
UnwelcomeReturn, NEW YORK TIMEs (Oct. 30, 2016), availableat http://www.nytimes.com/
2016/10/31/us/politics/anthony-weiner-democratic-reaction.html.
46 SeeTHE LATE SHow WITH STEPHEN C0LBERT, Anthony Weiner’s **** Might Destroy Two
Political Careers(Nov. 1, 2016),https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DLH36Tr-8pE.

SeeAaron Short& KhristinaNaritzhnaya,Anthony Weiner’sworld is aboutto getmuchsmaller
andsadder,NEW YORK POST(May 20, 2017),avall‘- ‘e at1“-vnost.c”--’ 1 7/05/’ “-‘ did
it-to1 elf-anthony-’ -faces-prison-exile/.
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not his first (or eventhird) sextingscandal— it is crucial to bearin mind that the prior scandals,

while distastefulandharmful,werenot criminal. This singleinstanceof criminal misconducthas

demonstrablyhadan immediateandprofoundimpacton Anthony,causinghim to finally seekand

persistwith treatmentfor his underlyingdisorder.

Dr. Levinson’s,Mr. Kelly’s, andDr. Must’s findings supportthis lack of threat. While the

risk metrics and labels vary, it is clear from all of theseprofessionalsthat Anthony is highly

unlikely to engagein sextingwith a teenageragain. As noted,no mentalhealthprofessionalhas

found that Anthony has any pedophilicor hebephilic interestsor deviant interestin teenagersat

all. Dr. LevinsondeemedAnthony’s risk of re-offenseto be “low” (PSR¶ 66; Must Reportat 14),

andMr. Kelly concurs,writing in his letterto the Court that, “having workedtherapeuticallywith

Anthony more extensivelythanany of his previoustherapists. . . I believethat Anthony is very

unlikely to repeatthe offensefor which he is before the Court.” (P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 1.)

And, while Dr. Must reportedthat the calculation of risk using highly derided standardized

measuresbasedon datedactuarialdatainvolving thebehaviorof a small groupof child molesters48

This test, the Static-99R,leadsto particularly absurdresults in Anthony’s case,given that he
would havehada “below averagerisk” of reoffenseunderthe test if he had sexuallymolesteda
pre-pubescentrelative insteadof engagedin online exchangeswith a stranger. (SeeMust Report
at 24—26.) Critiques of the Static-99Rand its sister test, the Static-99,come from all corners,
including courts, researchers,and the media. See, e.g., UnitedStatesv. Hall, 664 F.3d 456, 464
(4th Cir. 2012) (finding that the Static-99Rtestwas of limited value becauseit did not take into
considerationimportantfactors,suchas the offender’s“participationin treatment,his compliance
with suchtreatment,his history of reoffendingaftertreatment,andhis commitmentto controlling
his deviantbehavior”); UnitedStatesv. C.R., 792 F. Supp.2d 343, 412, 446—49(E.D.N.Y. 2011)
(finding the Static-99 test cannot be used for a defendantaccusedsolely of online child
pornographycrimes becausethe test measuresrecidivism of child molestation),vacatedand
remandedon othergroundsby, United Statesv. Reingold, 731 f.3d 204 (2d Cir. 2013); Jenny
Chang, These 10 Questions Can Mean Life Behind Bars, BUzzFEED (Apr. 22, 2015),
https://www.buzzfeed.com/peteraldhous/these-1 0-questions-can-rnean-life-behindbars?utmterm
=.nsBm9MZrjE#.va$4l9LoDx;seealso David Feige, When Junk ScienceAbout Sex Offenders
Infects the SttpremeCourt, NEw YORK TIMES (Sept. 12, 2017) (op-ed) (noting that “[c]onvicted
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is “average,”sheexplainsthat this “average”means“there is a 92.5%chancethat [Anthony] will

not haveanotherlegal sexualproblem”49(Must Reportat 26), and makesclear in the reportthat

she believesAnthony is not likely to reoffend due to his “intelligence, his dedication to his

parentingrole andson,his motivationto change,andhis supportgroup” (id. at 28). As repeatedly

observedby other courts reducedrisk of reoffenseis an important sentencingfactor in casesof

this kind. See,e.g., UnitedStatesv. E.L., 188 F. Supp.3d 152, 174 (E.D.N.Y. 2016) (concluding

that “[a] prison sentencein the instantcaseis not necessaryto protectthe public,” becauseof the

defendant’slow risk of recidivism,which was“further mitigatedby [the] defendant’sparticipation

in his currenttreatmentprogram”));R. V, 157 F. Supp.3d 207; Grinbergs,2008 WL 4191145,at

*9 (D. Neb. Sept.8, 2008);Boyden,2007 WL 1725402,at *1, *7_tO (E.D. Mich. June14, 2007).

Nor must the Court be confidentthat Anthony will neverrelapsein his sextingaddiction

to concludethat his risk of re-offenseis minimal. Even if Anthony shouldrelapseand sexually

engagewith otherson the internet, it is abundantlyclearthathe has learnedthroughthis casethat

he mustneverdo so againwith a minor. As Mr. Kelly notes:

Anthony’s illegal behaviorwas an anomalyand fell well outsideof his typical
sexualbehavior— even his sexually compulsivebehavior— becauseAnthony
does not show any predatory behavior, nor any unusual inclination toward
individuals below the age of majority. While he has shown significantly poor
judgementand a self-defeatingtendency to engage sexual activities that are
detrimental to his own best interest, these encountershave always been with
consentingadults. His engagementwith a personunderthe age of majority was
well outsidehis generalpatternof behaviorand is thereforevery unlikely to recur.

sexoffendershaveamongthe lowest ratesof same-crimerecidivismof any categoryof offender”
andderidingthe “junk science”that hassupportedviews to the contrary).
‘ There is somereasonto doubt that this 7.5% recidivismrisk calculationis accurateas a matter
of statistics or logic. Based on the communicationsbelatedly releasedto Dr. Must by the
Government,Dr. Must improvedAnthony’s scoreson both the Static-99Rand Stable-2007tests,
andreducedAnthony’s risk of reoffenseby morethan30% underthe Static-99Rtest— from 5.6%
to 3.9% in comparisonto the first report. Yet inexplicably,his combinedrisk of reoffensefrom
the original reportremainsunchangedat 7.5%. (SeeMust Reportat 23—26.)
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(P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 1.)

In short, Anthony posesno continuingthreatto the public and shouldbe sentencedwith

the lack of a needfor deterrencein mind.

3. AnthonyHasAlreadyExperiencedSignificantPunishment,SomeofIt Unfair

Nearly all defendants feel the collateral consequencesof conviction — the lost

employment,theharmto the family — asa form of punishment,andAnthony is no different. And

federalsentencingcourtsroutinelyobservethatthesehardships,real astheyare,arenot a substitute

for punishmentby the government.Here, though,Anthony’s casedoesstandout. He hasalready

beenpunishedin a meaningfulway by the government,just not in ajudicially sanctionedmanner.

Whatwassupposedto be aconfidentialgrandjury investigationinto a personaloffensewasleaked

by “law enforcementsources”and then improperly injected into the presidentialelectionby the

then-FBI Director. This conductis not defensibleand, indeed,the Governmentliterally cannot

defendit; the DeputyAttorney Generalof the United Stateshasalreadyformally concludedthat

Mr. Comey’s public statementsinvolving the review of evidence seized in this case were

iinproper.°

There can be no questionthat that theseimproperdisclosuresexactedsignificant extra-

judicial punishmenton Anthony andhis family. Anthonymight oncehavebeena punchline, but

he is now — to many in this country— somethingfar worse,as a result of SecretaryClinton’s

toss.5’ While Anthony is responsiblefor manyshamefulthings in his life, neitherhe nor his wife

shouldhavebeenaskedto bearsuchblame, for a matterentirely unrelatedto this caseand the

50 Thatthis memorandummayhavebeenmisusedasa pretextto fire Mr. Comeydoesnot alter the
fundamentalsoundnessof the Departmentof Justice’sanalysis.

See, e.g., supranotes44—46; MadeleineWeast,Anthony Weiner Blamedfor Clinton Loss kv
Neighbors, Has No friends, THE WASHINGTON FREE BEACON (Aug. 7, 2017),
http://freebeacon.com/culmre/weiner-has-no-friends/.
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conductprecipitating it. Moreover, while Anthony was blessedthat some in public life have

providedlettersto theCourt in his supportat sentencing,manyothersdid not, citing not theoffense

conduct but Anthony’s statusas a political pariah. Thesepunitive consequencesare directly

attributable to what the Departmentof Justice has conceded,at least in part, are improper

disclosuresrelatingto this investigation.

III. A Sentenceof Probation with Conditions Including Continued Treatmentand
Community Service Is Sufficient, But Not GreaterThan Necessary,to Satisfy the
Goalsof Sentencing

Given all of thesefactors,a sentenceof probationwith specialconditionsof supervised

release,including continuedtreatmentof the kind recommendedby Dr. Must and Mr. Kelly, and

communityservice,would be “sufficient, but not greaterthannecessary,”to accomplishthe goals

of sentencing,without disruptingthe remarkableprogressAnthony has made in addressinghis

oncedebilitatingmental illness andrebuildinghis life in serviceto others,includinghis son. See

18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). A sentenceof probationwould sharplyrestrictAnthony’s freedom,permit

continuedtreatmentvital to his recoverythat is simply not availablein prison,providehim with

the ability to makeamendsthroughservice,andwould providethe Courtwith tools (andAnthony

with incentives)to ensureAnthony’s continuedprogress,specifically, in the form of the potential

revocationof probation.

As an initial matter,the proposedsentencewould be significantlypunitive despitethe lack

of an incarceratoryelement. Probationandregistrationas a sex offenderwill imposesubstantial

penaltieson Anthony for decadesto come.D2 As the SupremeCourt recognizedin GaIl, 552 U.S.

52 While it is an openquestionin the SecondCircuit whethera defendantfoundguilty of violating
18 U.S.C. § 1470 is requiredto registerunderthe SexOffenderRegistrationandNotification Act,
34 U.S.C. § 20911, et seq. (“SORNA”), Anthony acknowledgedin the PleaAgreementthat he
would be requiredto do so. (PleaAgreement,Ex. 42 at 6; PSR¶ 3.)
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at 48, while “custodial sentencesare qualitatively more severethan probationarysentencesof

equivalentterms,”“[o]ffenderson probationarenonethelesssubjectto severalstandardconditions

that substantiallyrestricttheir liberty.” The SupremeCourt elaborated:

Probationersmay not leave the judicial district, move, or changejobs without
notifying, and in somecasesreceivingpermissionfrom, their probationofficer or
the court. They must report regularly to their probation officer, [and] permit
unannouncedvisits to their homes. . . . Most probationersare also subject to
individual “specialconditions” imposedby the court.

Id. In a caseof this nature,andas recommendedhereby the ProbationDepartment,the “special

terms” of probationwould likely include significantadditional restrictionson Anthony’s liberty,

such as permitting the ProbationDepartmentto monitor all of his online activity; submitting to

searchesby theProbationDepartmentofhimself,his home,his electronicdevicesandhis business,

andagreeingto polygraphtesting. Indeeda court can go further still wherewarranted,requiring

homeconfinementor other liberty-restrictingmeasures.Moreover, as a registeredsex offender,

Anthonywill be punishedfor his crime for at leasttwentyyearsandpotentiallythe restof his life.

See34 U.S.C. § 20913;N.Y. CoRREcT.LAW § 16$ (McKinney 2017); (seealso ?SR¶ 3). As

notedby JudgeWeinstein,“[t]he heavyburdensof sexoffenderregistrationrequirementsarewell-

known,” E.L, 18$ F. Supp.3d at 173—74,and,combinedwith specialconditionsof probationand

New York ]aw governingregisteredsexoffenders,will substantiallycurtail Anthony’s freedoms.

See,e.g.,34 U.S.C. § 20913;N.Y. CoRREcT.LAW § 168; N.Y. PENAL LAw § 65.10(4-a).

Finally, in additionto theserestrictions,Anthonywould understandthatanymisstepcould

result in incarceration. The Court’s ability to revokeAnthony’s probationwould both serveas a

powerful incentivefor Anthonyto fully complywith thetermsof his releaseandprovidetheCourt

with a tool to more severelypunishAnthony in the unlikely event that he failed to do so, a tool

thatAnthony is well awarethis Court hasusedin similar cases.SeeUnitedStatesv. forbes,1:09
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Cr. 745 (DLC) (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 2011) (revoking a sentenceof straightprobationand imposing

60-monthsentencein child pornographypossessioncasefollowing the defendant’sviolation of

the termsof his release).Theproposedsentence,in otherwords,givesthe Court the flexibility to

sentenceAnthonyto prison shouldit truly provenecessary,without prematurelyforeclosinga far

bettersuitedform of punishmentthat doesnot involve incarceration.

The proposedsentenceof probation also has a crucial advantagethat a sentenceof

imprisonmentdoesnot: it enablesAnthony to continuewhat has indisputablybeena productive

courseof treatment,andonethatDr. Levinson,Dr. Must, Mr. Kelly, andtheProbationDepartment

strongly recommendbe continued. Dr. Must recommendedspecificallythat Anthony “continue

to receiveindividual andgroup mentalhealthtreatmentwith his sametherapistgiven the benefit

Mr. Weiner reports of [this regimen] both helping him managehis hypersexualityas well as

provid[ing] a broadsupportnetwork” andmoreoverthat Anthony would benefit from continued

treatment“in the community.” (Must Reportat 29.) In particular,shewrites:

Mr. Weiner’s risk factors outlined abovecan be managedin the community and
treatedin an outpatientsex-offense-specializedtreatmentprogram. Outsideof his
sexualcompulsivityproblem, Mr. Weiner is a highly functioning individual. He
hasmany strengthsincluding his intelligence,his dedicationto his parentingrole
andson,his motivationto change,andhis supportgroup.

(Id.; seeP. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 3 (notinghis “full agreement”with this conclusion).) Giventhe

benefitsAnthony has derived from his “current regimen,” Dr. Must also recommendedthat, in

addition to an “outpatient sex-offense-specializedtreatment program” above, Mr. Kelly

“participateon thetreatmentteamandcaseconferencewith probationandtreatment”in Anthony’s

ongoingrecovery.53 (Must Reportat 29.)

Mr. Kelly recommendsa similar line of continuedtreatment,while noting that standardsex
offender group treatment presents“therapeutic obstacles,” given that it typically involves
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SentencingAnthony to confinementin the Bureauof Prisons(“BOP”) would simply end

Anthony’s ability to get treatment: not just the treatmentmodel Dr. Must and Mr. Kelly

recommendfor his condition,but quite likely sex offendertreatmentofany kind. As set forth in

moredetail in theattachedmemorandumfrom theNationalCenteron InstitutionsandAlternatives

(“NCIA”), the Bureauof Prisonsoffers two programsfor sex offenders:a residentialtreatment

program operating BOP facilities in Massachusettsand Illinois, and a less intensive, non

residential treatmentprogram at BOP facilities in Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Ohio,

Texas,and Virginia. Neither program is well-suited for Anthony. The residentialprogram is

gearedtowardshigh-risk offenders,often with far more seriousoffensehistories,and the non

residentialprogramconsistssoleLyof grouptherapysessionsthattakeplaceonly two to threetimes

per week, with no individual therapy,and no twelve-stepsbasedcomponentthat both Dr. Must

and Mr. Kelly have found suits Anthony well. (SeeP. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 3, 5 (noting that

“treatmentprogramswithin the prison systemare woefully inadequateboth in their availability

and, sadly, in there quality”); NCIA Report, Ex. 44 at 2 (noting that studiessupport that sex

offendertreatmentprovidedwhile an offenderis on probation,as opposedto treatmentprovided

in prison, is moreeffective in reducingthe rate of recidivism).) Moreover,noneof the programs

are availablenearNew York, requiring Anthony to sacrificeaccessto the son who has beenso

instrumentalin his recovery,as Dr. Must, Mr. Kelly, and countlessothershaveobserved.

Evenif theseBOPprogramscould substitutefor the treatmentrecommendedby the mental

healthprofessionalswho have worked with Anthony — and they could not — the fact is that

individuals “with significantly higher levels of offensebehaviorthan Anthony committed,”and
that such treatmentshould thereforebe seen as a supplementto existing treatmentand not a
substitute. (P. Kelly Letter, Ex. 43 at 3.) Mr. Kelly also notesthat he “would be very happyto
continueworking with Anthony both in individual therapyand group therapy” and “as part of a
treatmentteamandin caseconferenceswith Probation.” (Id. at 4.)
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Anthonyhasvirtually no chanceof participatingin them. Anthony’s low risk of re-offensemakes

him ineligible for BOP’s most intensive,residentialtreatmentprogramming,which, per the BOP

itself is “reservedfor inmateswith moreextensivesex offensehistories.” (NCIA Report,Ex. 44

at 2.) The non-residentialtreatmentprogramsare only available for inmateswith a projected

releasedateof 21 or moremonths. Given that the BOP factorsexpected“good time” credit into

the projectedreleasedate,manyof the sentenceswithin the rangethe Governmenthas identified

as “fair and appropriate”would result in a projectedreleasethat would renderhim ineligibleper

se to participate. And even sentencesat the high end of the range would likely precludehis

participationgiven the extensiveand apparentlygrowing waitlist (likely over 1,776, basedon

available public data) for theseprograms. (NCIA Report, Ex. 44 at 2.) In short, the cost of

sentencingAnthony to BOP custodyis clear: endinghis currenttreatmentregimen,which by all

accountsis both urgentlyneededand working, potentially resulting in the releaseof a defendant

moreat risk for reoffendingthanwouldhavebeenthecaseunderanalternativesentencethatwould

enabletreatmentin the community. SeeE.L., 188 F. Supp. 3d at 156 (imposingprobation in a

child pornographypossessioncasewhere incarceration“would have an adverseimpact on the

substantialprogressthat defendanthas alreadymadethroughhis participationin individual and

grouptherapy”).

A sentenceof incarcerationwould likewisedepriveAnthony from contactwith his sonthat

hasbeenso vital to his recovery. As describedin detail above,Anthony’s love for andhis

role in raising his child, has been a primary motivation for Anthony’s recovery. Separating

Anthony from — and from Anthony — could harm both father and son, by

disrupting Anthony’s recovery and destabilizing family life at a key developmental

juncture. As Mr. Kelly writes to the Court:
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(P. Kelly Letter,Ex. 43 at 4—5.) While Anthony,andnot theCourt,would of courseberesponsible

for any suchharm— a fact he struggleswith in recovery— the risk of damageto merits

considerationduring sentencing.Indeed,as Ms. Abedinwrites in her letter to the Court:

(H. Abedin Letter, Ex. 2); seeR.V, 157 F. Supp.3d at 254—56,267 (imposingnon-incarceratory

sentencein child pornographypossessioncase,in part, becausethe defendantwas “a father to

threeyoungchildrenwho wouldbe severelyadverselyaffectedif hewereincarcerated”andnoting

it would “strip [the defendant]of the opportunityto heal throughcontinuedsustainedtreatment

andthe supportof his closefamily”).

A sentencewithout incarcerationwould likewisepermitAnthonyto be of serviceto others

andto makeamendsfor his wrongs,somethingvital to his recoveryprogramsand a societalgood

more broadly. Community service is a widely recognized and acceptablealternative to

incarceration.In 2007,the Office of ProbationandPretrialServicesdescribedcommunityservice

as “a flexible, personalized,and humanesanction,a way for the offenderto repayor restorethe

community. It is practical, cost-effective, and fair-a ‘win-win’ proposition for everyone

involved.”54 Courtshaverecognizedthe validity of communityserviceas an alternativesentence

as well. As JudgeJohnGleesonobservedin imposing a sentenceconsistingof homedetention

Office of Probationand Pretrial Services,Court & Community: An Information SeriesAbout
US. Probation& PretrialServices:CommunityService(2007),availableatwww.miep.uscourts.
gov/PDFFII es/court cornmunityall.pdf.
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and 500 hoursof communityservice,“[ajlternativesto incarcerationexist that can carry both the

communityand this Court’s condemnationof your conductbut channelit in a way that’s more

constructive.”

So too here. Overmuchof the last year,Anthonyhasfocusedprincipally on gettingbetter

(and addressingthis case),becausewithout recovery,he cannotbe of serviceto anyone. He has

alsojust secureda job, as he describesin his letter, humblework

but work that enableshim to feel productive and start contributing

financially to his household. With thesebasicneedsresolved,Anthony hasturnedagaintoward

how he canbe of public service. Anthonywill not, clearly, beof servicein the political realmany

longer, but contoursof a new chapterof public serviceare beginningto emergeas the fog of

sickness lifis. Anthony has been a remarkable influence to others struggling with sexual

compulsivity, as testified to in the lettersof othersin recovery,servingas a positive role model

throughhis perseveranceand helpingothersstruggling,including a friend contemplatingsuicide.

(See, e.g., Letter, Ex. 39; H. Letter, Ex. 35 Letter, Ex. 29; Letter, Ex.

33; Letter, Ex. 30;Letter, Ex. 34; Letter, Ex. 31; Letter, Ex. 2$.) Givenhis

high profile, he hasa uniqueability to shedlight on theseissuesandencourageothersto dealwith

problemsof the sort Anthony had long beenavoiding, a role he hasalreadyplayedfor

and , amongothers,who write of how seeingthatAnthonyWeinercouldtackletheseissues

gavethemconfidencethat they could too. ( Letter, Ex. 33; Letter, Ex. 28.)

Anthony’s ability to perform service is not limited to those struggling with sexual

compulsivity issues. Anthony has also started counseling companiesthat need advice on

Herb Hoelter, Symposiumon Alternativesto Incarceration,U.S. SENTENcINGC0MM’N at 349
(Jul. 14, 2008) (quoting .SentencingTranscript, United Statesv. Shamitzadeh,No. 04 Cr. 1094,
(E.D.N.Y. Apr. 1, 2008)).
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navigatinggovernmentalissueson apro bono basis,somethingAnthonybecameexpertat in his

yearsof constituentservices. (PSR¶ 82.) finally, Anthony hasbegunto work againon a non

profit, community restauranthe developedin 2014, inspired by his restaurateurbrother, and

designedto give down-on-their-luckNew Yorkers the skills neededfor a culinary career. (See

Lisa Letter, Ex. 16; J. DavasLetter, Ex. 12.) The non-profit encounteredinitial obstacleswhen a

spacethat was to be donatedto the facility fell through,but Anthony and his partnersintend to

pressforward. The ways Anthony can be of serviceagainare myriad, and a sentencerequiring

community service in a mannerapprovedby his ProbationOfficer would provide the needed

flexibility to ensurethat theseenergiesarewell-channeledas Anthony’s recoverycontinues.

In sum, a term of imprisonmentwould bring Anthony’s indisputablysuccessfultreatment

for the sicknessunderlyinghis crime to an immediateand completehalt, and separateAnthony

from the son who has motivatedhis recovery. Given the unusualcircumstancesof this offense

andthe ability of a sentencewithout incarcerationto imposejust andmeaningfulpunishmentwhile

permittingcontinuedtreatment,a non-incarceratorysentenceof the kind proposedabovewould

be “sufficient but not greaterthan necessary”to satisfy the goals of sentencing. See 18 U.S.C.

§ 3553(a).

CONCLUSION

Anthony appearsbefore the Court guilty of a seriouscrime, his behaviorinexcusableno

matterhis sicknessandno matterhis victim’s motive to exploit that sicknessfor profit or politics.

Punishmentmustbe imposed,but the sentenceshouldsuit the particularsof this unusualcaseand

should likewise reflect and encouragethe remarkableprogressAnthony has madeover the past

year,whenthe Government’sinvestigationbegan.

A letter from fellow recoveree providesparticularlypoignantinsight into themanthat

is now beforethe Court, a man leadinga life that is both much smallerand much healthierthan
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the life he led before. writes of a conversationin which he gave “unsolicited advice to

Anthony aboutcontrolling his ‘story’,” promptingAnthony to interject: “There’s no morestory.

There’s only He’s my redemption. He’s all that mattersnow.” ( Letter, Ex. 40.)

Anthony had managedprior scandalsfrom the detachedvantagepoint of a political operator,

worried aboutthe opticsof how his life appeared,andnot the destructivemannerin which he was

actually living it. He is different now.

closeshis short letter by relaying a still more recentconversationwith Anthony that

speakvolumesaboutwhat Anthony’s life hasbecome,and his determinationto be successfulat

it:

[Alt lunch againon Saturday[Anthony] didn’t focus on himself; he askedme aboutmy
job search,if I wasmakingenoughmeetings,if I’d spokenwith our strugglingfriend. As
for him, he eventually[] said it wasmoreof the same:his life was going to meetingsand
taking careof He shookhis headand grewquiet for a moment,sadlyreflecting, I
thought,on how comparativelysmallhis life hadbecome.Thenhe saidlongingly: “If only
they’d let me keepdoing it.”

Letter, Ex. 40.)

for the reasonsset out in this submission,we respectfullyrequestthat this Court do just

that.

Dated: September13, 2017 By:_____________________
Arlo Devlin-Brown
Erin Monju
Covington& Burling LLP
620 EighthAvenue
New York, NY 1001$
212-841-1046

Attorneysfor Anthony Weiner
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